# HACKS for LIFE

Andrew Newton



Intentionally blank

## Contents

Confidence Trick	5
How not to be socially awkward	8
Fear of Failure – and how to overcome it	10
Learning to avoid embarrassment is easy	14
Decisions, decisions	15
Improve your wellbeing – take a nap!	16
A good read will make you feel more alive	18
Take a break or two or three	19
The upside of doing absolutely nothing	20
Crossword puzzles develop sharper brains and stave off dementia	21
Think positive – live longer	22
A better cure for depression?	23
A little exercise will clear your head	24
LESS exercise is the key to weight loss!	28
Beat stress just by breathing	29
Going green – the route to better health	30
Happiness, wellbeing, and your immune system	32
Think yourself happy	33
Being more resilient helps to prevent future setbacks	35

It's OK to dwell on past mistakes	36
Being more resilient helps to prevent future setbacks	37
Your bad mood can improve your health	38
Perfect posture, and how it helps to smile	40
Reminiscing about happy times can beat stress	41
Positive thinking keeps you young!	42
How to improve your memory	43
Reminiscing about happy times can beat stress	45
Coffee could add years to your life and help you lose weight!	46
Performance is the best therapy	47
Swearing makes you feel better!	48
A good cry can activate your reset button	49
Chocolate is good for you after all!	50
Cheers! How red wine can improve your health	52
The shape of water	56
Confidence trick (2)	59
How to win friends and influence people	62
Fright Night - Phobias are just the fear of your own imagination	63
Always look on the bright side of life	64

## **Confidence Trick**

Successful people exude confidence! It's not their success that gives them that confidence – the confidence was already there. They're confident because they believe in themselves – they believe in what they're doing and they always know without a shadow of a doubt that they are right.

Successful people have the confidence to take calculated risks. They understand the business they are in and more important, they understand themselves – they know their own strengths and they understand their own limitations. Most important however is that they can see their goal clearly and have definite ideas about how they're going to achieve it. They have no doubts... on the contrary, they have a vision, a dream if you like, and they set themselves on that path with a determination that is unstoppable.

Their belief in themselves, their ideas and their objectives, rubs off on other people. I often use the example of not needing a degree in psychology to know when someone's flirting with you. Well guess what? No one needs a degree in psychology to work out when a person has confidence or if they're plagued by doubt. So if you're unsure about yourself, you can hardly expect other people to believe in you.

Sure, it requires confidence to reach for new challenges, but life is full of these tests. I believe that we all pass lots of little tests every day, for instance meeting new people, finishing small tasks, making phone calls, saying 'no' to people. So really, you already have confidence, it's just that you become unsure when you're on unfamiliar ground.

People who lack confidence or who are fearful or insecure tend to stay within their comfort zones. The problem is, a comfort zone is a bit like a straight jacket – once you're in one, it's difficult to get out! This is why people lacking in confidence get stuck in dead-end jobs and let valuable opportunities slip past them.

Don't get me wrong... being cautious is not the same as lacking confidence. I believe caution is a good thing! Before embarking on any project, one should always check out the positives and the negatives, always assessing risks against potential benefits. There is common sense in this advice – trust me. Anyone who rushes into a business (or a relationship) like a bull in a china shop is being a trifle reckless!

Making lists, using spread sheets, doing sensible and thorough research are all important, but the one thing that's absent just could be the confidence to go through with something once you've decided it's worth doing. Having the confidence to achieve something special or unique will give you the will to do it.

Understandably, if you don't feel fully confident you are more likely to feel at the mercy of external circumstances. It's sometimes tempting to blame other people or minor obstacles and use these as reasons for not going forward. Successful people aren't deterred by people or obstacles! And this is why they succeed.

Without real confidence in yourself, or what you want to achieve, the only person stopping you from achieving it is yourself. It's time to remove that barrier of self-doubt. You can do it, and once you have, you will be surprised how easy it actually is!

You can help yourself turn your back on doubt by closing your eyes and using a little bit of creative relaxation. For instance, imagine that each little doubt has a physical constituent,

maybe butterflies in your stomach, a tenseness around the back of your neck or perspiration on your brow.

Next, imagine these physical manifestations evaporating into thin air and being replaced by a warm feeling of confidence and self-assuredness. Give that new feeling a colour – perhaps a favourite colour, or a colour that makes you feel comfortable and safe. Using your own creative imagination, think about how much better that new feeling is – imagine yourself feeling calm, composed, and ready for action! Imagine absorbing the colour and feeling feeling into every cell your body, becoming an essential part of you.

Confidence is one of the crucial building blocks in the formula for success, so here are the 7 Confidence Tricks that will change you forever...

#### Trick 1

Don't confuse confidence with conceit. Confidence is earned through hard work, and confident people are self-aware. If your confidence outweighs your abilities, then you've crossed the line to conceit and arrogance. It's important to understand the difference. Real confidence is firmly rooted in reality and it's important to have a realistic view of your own abilities. Try to identify areas that could be improved and work on them. Likewise, recognising your strengths will enable you to ignore any negativity that naturally occurs in a competitive environment – the ability to do that will immediately help to build your confidence.

#### Trick 2

Just say NO. Believe me, you'll start to *enjoy* saying it after while. If you find it difficult to say no, you are much more likely to experience stress and loss of confidence and self-esteem. Practise saying it out loud when you're on your own – imagine you're saying it to someone you would actually like to say 'no' to. See how good it feels? They will respect you for it in the end! Don't pussyfoot around with meaningless phrases such as 'I'll have to think about it.' Just say no and make your intention clear – firm but nice. Now you will have more time and energy for your own *more important* commitments.

#### Trick 3

A difficult relationship can destroy anyone's confidence, whether it's at work or in a social setting. It's hard to be confident when someone is constantly criticising or undermining you. Try to identify where the relationship is going wrong and decide whether there's anything you can do to get things back on track. If the relationship is truly unsalvageable, it's time to move on to something, or someone, else.

#### Trick 4

Confident people tend to challenge themselves as well as compete with others. Small victories excite the pleasure centres in the brain, in particular those responsible for reward and motivation. This will further increase your confidence and your eagerness to take on challenges in the future. If you have a series of small victories, the boost in your confidence can last for months.

#### Trick 5

Finding a mentor, a talented, experienced person and getting them on your side is a good way to build confidence. A good mentor can act as a sounding board for your thoughts and ideas, helping you develop belief in yourself.

#### Trick 6

Knowledge builds confidence – study articles, read books, or watch DVDs related to your chosen subject. The more you know, the more you can effectively focus on the things that matter. This will also help you be more authoritative – if you're one chapter ahead of everyone else, confidence will come naturally. Knowledge is power! However, don't confuse being authoritative with being authoritarian. The meaning of these two similar words are different. You can assert yourself without being rude.

#### Trick 7

A study conducted at the Eastern Ontario Research Institute found that people who exercised twice a week for a short time began to rate their body image and self-esteem higher. This had the unexpected effect of improving their ability to communicate more effectively. The immediate release of endorphins from exercise also made a difference. So a little exercise a couple of times a week can start to increase your confidence.

#### Trick 8

You can boost your confidence just by dressing well, choosing clothing that reflects who you are and the image you want to project. The way you dress – including shoes and accessories and the way you wear your hair – can make you feel better about yourself. This in turn will exert a huge effect on how others see you. Studies have shown that people speak and behave differently when they're 'dressed to kill' compared to when they're dressed casually.

I have found that encouraging clients who suffer from depression to smarten themselves up is a useful and worthwhile first step on the road to recovery.

Remember... your confidence is your own! No one can steal it from you any more than they can steal your soul. Even though confidence must be based on reality, it's your own reality at the end of the day that matters. No one ever told anyone off because they were confident. In fact the converse is true... others will respect you a lot more if you exude confidence. So, memorise these simple rules – one a day for a week – and put them into practice. Go on... I dare you!

## How not to be socially awkward

Social awkwardness is thought to affect more than seven million people in the UK to some degree. Being socially awkward can turn fun gatherings into torturous experiences. Even the thought of striking up conversations with strangers is enough to trigger nausea, sweating, heart palpitations and a queasy stomach.

Some people even prefer to feign illness or family emergencies rather than subject themselves to the agony of social interaction.

Others find the condition extends into everyday life – putting them off making phone calls in front of other people or chatting to fellow shoppers in a supermarket queue for fear of embarrassment.

Small talk is like the glue that binds human relationships in all walks of life – something we all have to do if we want to interact with people around us. But it is a skill that has to be learned.

The good news is that there are just seven rules for turning social gatherings into occasions to remember, rather than ones to forget

#### 1. Maintaining the right distance

One must be aware of personal space. In Norway, people feel quite comfortable when a stranger is standing around 15 inches away, but in the UK, the preferred distance is about 3 feet. But overall, women prefer being closer together than men and young people are more likely to engage in physical contact than older people.

When you first meet someone, step forward to shake their hand, then take a step back. If they move towards you, then that's a signal they are comfortable.

#### 2. Keep eye contact for a few seconds

Eye contact is an essential part of communication. Too little and you might appear uninterested in what the person has to say... too long and it's likely to be boring.

A 2016 study by scientists from University College London came up with the answer: maintain eye contact for 3.3 seconds. Your eyes convey your level of interest, your comfort levels and how engaged you are in the person and the conversation. But there's a balance. Aim for regular, periodic glances at the other person's eyes as you are talking.

#### 3. The three questions rule

Successful small talk is all about getting the conversation started. Standard getting-to-know-you questions include 'How do you know the person throwing the party?' or 'What do you do?' etc. This should open the door to a mutually interesting conversation.

For every three questions you ask the other person, pause and then say something about yourself, which gives them the chance to ask questions about you.

#### 4. If in doubt, you can fake confidence

As nervous as you may be, you can just pretend to be confident. Faking confidence will get you through the initial few seconds of anxiety and lead more naturally into conversation. Once you get over that initial hurdle, the rest will flow easily. Just turn yourself into an actor for 60 seconds!

Even a fake smile will help reduce the body's response to stress and lower the heart rate and even lower your blood pressure. And it makes the people you're about to talk to will immediately be more receptive.

#### 5. Joining a group chat

If you see a group of people you'd like to join, then stand on the fringes for four or five seconds, near enough so they see you and sense your interest in joining in, but not so close that you're invading their space. Then move in and say 'Hi' to someone. Relax and smile and say 'Hi... how do you all know each other?'

If you've heard a group talking about something you're interested in, you can quietly move in closer, listen for a few seconds and then chime in with your opinion as soon as there's an appropriate pause.

It's also OK to join a group and just follow the conversation for a few seconds. Just be ready to join in with a throw away line such as 'That happened to a friend of mine once...'

#### 6. Mirror the person you're talking to

Social anxiety is often linked to an underlying fear that people won't like you. One way to ensure they do is to subtly mimic their posture, gestures or speech, as this creates a rapport between you. This is an NLP (neuro-linguistic programming) trick, but don't make your imitation of them too obvious or they may think you're making fun of them.

Some psychologists claim that 'mirroring' makes people trust you more, but be warned – if others notice, they may see it as an attempt at manipulation, especially if one of the group has been on one of Paul McKenna's ludicrous NLP trainings.

#### 7. Don't push it.

If joining a conversation feels forced, it may be a sign you just weren't meant to talk to that particular person – you might not have much in common. Just say you need to go to the bar, and politely move on.

#### Fear of Failure - and how to overcome it

"Success is stumbling from failure to failure with no loss of enthusiasm." Winston Churchill

"If you think you can do a thing or think you can't do a thing, you're right." Henry Ford

The fear of failure is ten times worse than actual failure, because it condemns you to a life of unrealised and wasted potential. People are more afraid of failure than anything else. But given the right tools to confront it can turn your fear of failure into a determination to achieve success. It's easy once you know how. If you can understand the following, it will be a lot easier to make this change work for you.

#### 1. Identify the obstacles

The first thing to do is to identify the things that are holding you back, the hurdles if you like. Once you've done this, then you should visualise them and in your creative imagination, and kick every one of them down one by one.

Imagine every obstacle coming down with a crash and imagine jumping over the wreckage as if they were hurdles on a running track. Jump right over them – all of them. This visualisation is the start of the process and you should do it every day. It only takes a few seconds.

You will find it a lot easier to concentrate your efforts on one thing at a time. Take a look at what's not working for you, and choose just one goal to work on each day. You may not achieve everything all at once, but by giving yourself somewhere to start and tackling one thing at a time will get you on your way!

#### 2. Confront your fear

A fear is not a monster or a dangerous wild animal. Your fear only exists in your imagination – it's not going to turn around and physically harm you! We all tend to be too abstract about our fears, and are too often unaware of what exactly is ultimately holding us back.

Whether it's taking up a hobby to meet new people or banish the fear of speaking in public, you can break up your fears into small steps. With each step you take, you will begin to face, embrace, and eventually, erase the fear of failing, leading you towards your longer-term goal.

It helps if you can write down your fear, and then flush it down the loo or take it outside and burn it. When you write down your fear – the very thing that scares you the most – it becomes more tangible and easier to deal with. By burning it (and watching it burn) or flushing it down the loo, you take ownership of the fear and destroying its hold on you.

#### 3. If at first you don't succeed, try again.

It's about time you started thinking about Number One for a change! (Yes... that's you!)

And always be accountable to yourself before holding yourself accountable to others!

Always remember, you are not alone! There are thousands of people pursuing similar goals and who have similar doubts and fears. Everyone you know has had to do that many, many times, and you're no different! Everyone goes through it, so you're not alone.

Telling yourself that it's too late to achieve a goal, or giving in to the fear of failure, is like abandoning yourself on a desert island after steering yourself there on purpose.

When you do fail (and we all do) it's only human. If it's worth achieving, then it will require effort on a daily basis, so persistence is all-important. It has, and always will be OK to fail and be afraid of what might come next. Welcome it with open arms, instead of letting it overcome your life. You've just learned another way of how *not* to do it.

#### 4. Look at how others have achieved similar goals

Learning about how other people got through their own personal failures can inspire you to tackle your own head on.

Don't let the fear overpower you. It's never too late to face your fears and inch closer to your goals. It just takes time. Positive feedback from friends and family can encourage you along the road to success.

#### 5. It's OK to change your mind and pursue something else

Get yourself together and get ready to start again. Who knows? You might even find you love doing something else more.

Never listen to people who are negative about your ideas. The world is full of jealousy and envy. Psychologists agree that being a bit of a nerd or a dreamer (Silicon Valley is full of them) can make you more creative and better at selling your ideas to others. Steve Jobs was known for creating one of the most successful companies in the world – and for swearing at his employees. However, it was his his unflinching belief in himself that helped him become a success.

People who *think* they're more creative are not actually more creative. Some people have an inflated sense of self-esteem but all that means is that they have total confidence their ideas are better than anyone else's. Yes, they are irritating, but to hell with them. You have a voice too... Use it!

Most important of all, doing something you love is always the best choice. By immersing yourself in your passions you'll open up your mind to more opportunities for success.

#### 6. Don't be afraid of speaking out to get your ideas heard!

People become successful because the pushed their ideas. Yes, they are pushy and sometimes rude, but they get their ideas heard! It is especially important to understand that everyone else is also being pushy!

Even self-centred, narcissistic, conniving, back-stabbing psychopaths harbour their own doubts and fears. The only advantage they have is that they talk louder and are more combative. They want to get what they want, no matter who they have to step on to get it.

They're so focussed on getting what they want, they can turn on the charm like a tap. Well, guess what... they're just acting – and you can too!

It's true that those with headstrong personalities are more successful – it's because they know what they want and they're good at devising strategies to get it. But that doesn't mean that they are unpleasant people. Generally speaking, they're not – they're just determined.

However, it's important to know that nice people, those who are perhaps not as headstrong or self-centred, are more receptive to new ideas and new ways of thinking, and particularly more open to positive feedback.

#### 7. Don't focus on the end goal!

Bad news I'm afraid – people who just think about the end goal fail far more often than those who optimistically focus on the individual and separate steps of how to get there.

Admittedly, the consequences of failure can be severe, but in the real world you have to pick yourself up, dust yourself down, and start all over again! It took Thomas Edison 1,000 tries to develop a light bulb that actually worked. When someone asked him how it felt to fail a thousand times, he said, "I didn't fail a thousand times. The light bulb was an invention with a thousand steps."

It's this attitude that separates the successes from the failures. J. K. Rowling's manuscript for *Harry Potter* was only accepted after twelve publishers rejected it, and even then she was only paid a nominal advance. Oprah Winfrey lost her job as a Baltimore TV news anchor for becoming too emotionally involved in her stories, a quality that was later to become her trademark. Henry Ford lost his financial backers twice before he was able to produce a workable prototype of an automobile. The list of failures is almost endless, but then so is the list of successes!

Remember – setbacks aren't failures, so whatever happens, don't get discouraged. The actions you take in the face of failure are critical to your ability to recover from it and have huge implications for how others view you and your mistakes.

There are several things you can do when you fail that will enable you to succeed in the future and allow others to see you positively in spite of your failure. Here is a step by step breakdown:

#### 1. Always break bad news yourself

If you've made a mistake, it is inevitable that people will find out about it. If someone else points out your failure, then one failure turns into two because trying to hush things up just makes people wonder why you didn't say something, and believe me – they're going to attribute this to incompetence or shame... so...

#### 2. Offer explanations, but don't make excuses

Taking ownership of your mistakes will actually enhance your image – it shows confidence, accountability, and integrity. Be sure however to stick to the facts. "I lost the contract because I missed the deadline" is a reason. "I lost the contract because the dog ate my homework" is an excuse.

#### 3. Have a plan for fixing things

What you do next is critical. Don't wait for things to come right on their own (they won't) but offer your own solutions. It's even better if you can list the specific steps you've already taken to get things back on track.

#### 4. Have a prevention plan

You should also have a plan to avoid making the same mistake again. That's the best way to reassure everyone you're well and truly back on track.

#### 5. Get back to it ASAP!

Don't let failure make you timid – that's a very negative mind-set that's not only counter productive, it's exhausting. By all means, take enough time to learn the lesson, but as soon as you've done it, get right back out there and get going. Don't dither – dithering only prolongs negative thinking and increases the chances of losing your nerve.

#### 6. Keep Your Perspective

Using failure to your advantage requires resilience and strength, both hallmarks of emotional intelligence. Things are never as bad as they seem. Engaging in some logical thought will help.

#### 7. Stay Optimistic

Keeping a sense of optimism is vital emotion if you intend bounce back. One British study of more than 500 serial entrepreneurs found that they were much more likely to expect success than entrepreneurs who gave up after their first failure. Each failure is really a building block to ultimate success. Remember Oprah, Edison and Ford!

#### 8. Practice Persistence

Persistence is optimism in action. When others quit and go home, persistent people shake off failures and get on with it. Persistent people always succeed because their optimism never dies. This makes them adept at recovering from failure.

#### 9. Bringing It All Together.

Failure is a product of your perspective. What one person considers a crushing blow, another will see as a minor setback. The beauty of this philosophy is that you can change how you see failure and use it to your advantage.

#### 10. Finally, the most important piece of advice of all:

Never put off until tomorrow something you can (and should) do today!

## Learning to avoid embarrassment is easy

The fear of embarrassment is a phobia that can push some people to sidestep seemingly everyday situations.

It's all a question of degree. Some simply fear asking a shop assistant a question that may make them sound stupid, while others may be too scared to take an embarrassing yet potentially life-saving medical test. Embarrassment prevents us from asking advice about what we should do, for example, about our mounting mortgage bills or unplanned pregnancies.

But a new tactic to avoid feelings of embarrassment in awkward situations has been uncovered by scientists who say that viewing your own embarrassing moment as an out-of-body spectator can help you to disconnect from feelings of humiliation.

Researchers at Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, say that fear of embarrassment affects many people. They suggest training your mind to think of yourself as an observer rather than a participant in these moments to help to alleviate shame and distress.

In order to test the hypothesis that adopting an observer's perspective can reduce feelings of embarrassment, the team conducted three sets of studies in which they asked different groups of students how they felt about a series of situations.

In the first study, the researchers asked participants to respond to an advertisement showing someone accidentally farting in a yoga class. The second tested participants' reactions to an advertisement about getting tested for a sexually transmitted disease, and the third questioned participants about an advert where a man accidentally farts in front of a potential love interest.

One finding was that people who are extremely self-conscious are more likely to take an actor's perspective in embarrassing situations, even when they concern others. Self-conscious people will even feel distressed when watching an advert that depicts an embarrassing moment.

Levels of self-consciousness drop in these people when they are able to picture themselves as observers of a situation, and not as being directly involved, but the research shows that devising strategies to successfully reduce embarrassment is complicated. Consumers will react differently to persuasion tactics depending on their level of public self-consciousness and their amount of available cognitive resources.

Embarrassment-avoidance forms the basis for attempts to motivate you to buy a wide variety of products, from laundry detergents that can shift stains on your clothes your collar, to makeup that hides unsightly spots on your skin. The research is relevant to situations where marketers want to protect consumers against a fear of embarrassment and encourage them to take actions they might otherwise avoid. And of course to make more money.

## Decisions, decisions...

What do we want? An end to procrastination! When do we want it? We're not sure...

Procrastination is the thief of time...

We all procrastinate from time to time. Procrastination can be useful if it means you can better perform a task at a later date. But unintentional or long-term procrastination can be problematic – and it's important you deal with it.

Procrastination can exert a detrimental effect on your health if you put off exercise or going to the doctor. It can affect exam performance and results, career choices and interpersonal relationships.

Research shows that people who regularly procrastinate say that it affects their lives and even makes them feel anxious, guilty and ashamed.

Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) is being used to help procrastinators become more decisive. It is unclear how CBT *specifically* benefits procrastinators, but it has been shown to stop people procrastinating by enforcing useful actions.

CBT aims to change problematic behaviours and replace them with more useful ones. It has proved effective for certain mental health disorders, such as phobias and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) by teaching people how to cope with anxiety.

Researchers from Stockholm University asked student volunteers to fill out a questionnaire that assigned them a procrastination score on a scale of 1 to 60. procrastinators were identified as those who scored 40 or above. Over a period of eight weeks the researchers tested CBT on two separate groups.

48 participants received weekly online sessions that provided them with reading materials, exercises and advice. Another 44 participants received fortnightly face-to-face sessions in groups of 12 which were conducted by two therapists.

At the end of both types of CBT course, all participants showed great improvement. Scores dropped by around 10 points and by the end of the treatment, 34% of participants stopped putting things off and achieved scores similar to the average population. The participants also saw improvements in their ability to cope with anxiety and improvements in their wellbeing. They also saw improvements in their academic performance.

But... six months later, only those who had received face-to-face sessions continued to benefit, and by a further four points.

This kind of group therapy could be more successful because it helps people to hear from, and be supported by, others who have had similar experiences whereas those who had only online sessions slipped back to their original state.

Hypnotherapy is a way of speeding the process up and can often achieve the same result in just one session! Hypnosis is the vehicle why delivers the therapy and the the effect is quick and usually profound.

## Improve your wellbeing - take a nap!

It's long been said that 'sleeping on it' can help you make challenging decisions. Guess what...? There's now a scientific experiment to confirm it – having a nap really can help you make clearer choices. Better still, THIS form of mindfulness in natural, healthy, and takes no effort whatsoever!

Scientists at Bristol University led by Dr Liz Coulthard and published in the *Journal of Sleep* Research measured changes in the brains and reaction times of 16 participants before and after they had a brief nap. The results suggest a period of sleep may help weighing up pros and cons or gain insight before making a tough choice.

All the participants – aged between 20 and 91 – were hooked up to an EEG to measure the electrical activity in their brain. They were asked to carry out two tasks.

In the first, they were asked to describe whether they thought a chain of words were either 'good' or 'bad'. In the second, volunteers were quizzed on whether they thought they saw a red or blue square dozens of times on a screen. The participants practiced the tasks and then either stayed awake or took a 90-minute nap before repeating the same challenges.

Reactions times were much quicker in the subjects who had a short sleep – but only in the first task, which required more thought.

It has long been understood that the process of memory is strengthened during sleep. But the study suggests information acquired during wakefulness may potentially be processed in some deeper, qualitative way during sleep.

The benefits of having a nap during the day are similar to those experienced after drinking coffee. Having a snooze instead of a coffee negates the side effects of stimulants like caffeine and disrupted sleep at night can be avoided.

Those who regularly nap report feeling more alert after a brief nap in the afternoon compared to those who only nap occasionally.

Humans are one of the few animals that only sleep at night. Most animals follow a polyphasic sleep cycle – they alternate between sleep and wakefulness several times during the 24 hour day, but the way human days are structured prevents us from sleeping multiple times a day.

We need our sleep. People who are sleep deprived have higher levels of cortisol, a hormone associated with stress. Higher cortisol levels can result in damage to the immune system. But taking a nap can lower levels of cortisol and reduce the level of physiological stress on your body.

Throughout human history, it's been known that armies fight better when they've been rested. In fact any kind of battle is easier won after a good night's sleep – generals need to be on the ball and soldiers fit to fight and the same is true of negotiating in business meetings, playing in sporting events or doing any kind of job. Being properly rested means you and think and function better.

I never go on stage tired - I always get up late on show days and make sure I walk on stage fully fit to perform. I've found by experience that my concentration is sharper if I'm

relaxed and in the proper frame of mind to face an audience. No one in their right mind wants to be fighting fatigue when they should be giving their best.

Going to Court? Going for a job interview? Meeting someone important? If you're not alert and awake your performance will suffer! Getting some sleep will do you a lot more good!

If you're taking an exam, last minute revision doesn't serve you well either – but being properly rested will. It will also have a greater and longer lasting impact on your performance! Trying to get some last minute revision done before an exam can be counterproductive, because trying to learn and remember something when you're not properly rested is much more difficult.

Please don't misunderstand this advice... revising makes sense. Revising strengthens and consolidates knowledge. The more you recall a piece of information, the stronger the memory of that information will become. But sleep is also vital for memory retention and a good night's sleep helps our brains consolidate what we've learned in the day.

There are many people who swear by a quick afternoon nap, so if you've got an hour free, is it better to nap or revise?

A team of researchers at Duke-NUS Medical School in Singapore set out to compare the two options. The researchers created a real student experience, and recruited 72 volunteers to sit through lectures about 12 different species of ants and crabs. The participants were asked to learn all about these animals, including for example, information about their diets and habitats.

After 80 minutes of tuition, the students were given an hour to either watch a film, have a nap, or revise what they had just learned. This was followed by another 80 minutes of study. Then they all sat an exam in which they were asked 360 questions. The group that used their downtime to take a nap achieved the highest scores.

Then, the researchers called all the volunteers back for another test on the same subject a week later. Again, the group that had used the time to take a nap scored the highest.

When the group who revised took the first test, they significantly outperformed the group who watched the movie. But they lost their advantage in the second test because there was no significant difference in those two groups' scores a week later.

No one is quite sure why taking a nap might be so beneficial. It's possible that giving the brain a short rest helps it to absorb more information by freeing up space or because memories are better laid down during a short sleep, after all, this is what happens when you sleep at night – the brain files away and rationalises information learned during the day. Or it could be that even a short rest makes the brain more alert and more ready to retrieve information.

We already know that in the natural cycle of wakefulness, there is a natural dip in alertness at around 3pm, so that might be a good time to close your eyes and take a quiet break.

In another study, a visual test was given to participants. After the participants had performed multiple rounds, the researchers noticed a decline in performance. When they were allowed to take a half hour nap in the middle, their performance was significantly enhanced. A longer one-hour nap resulted in even better performance.

Breaking up your day with a nap can dramatically increase alertness. Researchers at NASA found there was a 100% increase in alertness in individuals who took a 40 minute nap. In

some cases, studies showed how 20 minute naps could provide equal or better increases in alertness compared to being given 200mg of caffeine.

Creativity can dramatically increase if you take short naps. This could also be attributed to the sharpening of senses associated with being well rested. Artist Leonardo da Vinci wasn't known to take multiple naps during the day and minimised sleep during the night.

It is known that working memory is more efficient when people are well rested, because it is involved earn people undertake tasks that require a lot of attention, It is believed that taking naps can even help you retain memories long term.

Squeezing a quick nap into your day can help keep your senses of smell, taste, sight, and hearing in good condition.

Allowing your body some sleep – or 'downtime' – during the day has shown to benefit sensory perception almost as much as a full night's sleep. For example, keeping senses sharp can make a big difference in how music sounds or how food tastes!

And apart from increasing your ability to manage information, a nap can also improve your mood,

Think about it... How much better do you feel after a few ZZZZ's?

## A good read will make you feel more alive

Ditching self-help books (like this one)in favour of complex works of classic literature can boost brain power and quality of life. People suffering from depression, chronic pain and even dementia are being urged to tackle books by the likes of Charles Dickens or Jane Austen to send 'rocket boosters' to the brain.

Reading the classics allows people to feel more alive and can even relieve symptoms of illness.

Reading a self-help book on the other hand is comparatively boring because simply scanning information doesn't excite the imagination or the emotions. But if the mind is offered something more complicated, the brain really begins to work.

Research has also shown that reading could help preserve your memory into old age. Reading a good book can also have a positive effect on mental health.

Activities involving mental stimulation, such as reading demanding books and doing crosswords at any age could be linked to a slower rate of decline in brain power. Great literature has the power to touch diverse people and illuminate the things that connect us.

It can help with inner life, mental health, and give us a greater and better understanding of the human condition and the world we inhabit.

#### Take a break... or two or three...

Whatever you're doing, taking a break for just 5 minutes every hour will refresh your mind, improve your mood, increase your energy levels, and even quash cravings for food.

Spending hours a day just sitting behind a desk has known consequences for your health, but scientists now say that just a five-minute walk could negate some of the risks.

According to a new study recently published in the *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, researchers found that taking brief, repeated breaks from work to stand up and move around has sustained benefits for mood and energy levels.

The study revealed that the benefits of these hourly five-minute activity sessions were found to last all day, and could even help to alleviate food cravings while you're at work.

In fact the benefits of regular and short activity breaks were found to be better for you than the single early morning workout favoured by some, the effectiveness of which wears off after a time.

After hourly short breaks, participants showed a sustained increase in energy levels as well as improved mood and decreased feelings of fatigue and appetite.

The sedentary lifestyle of sitting in an office all day increases the risks of diabetes, depression, and obesity, and office workers are most at risk. Prolonged and uninterrupted sitting time is bad for you!

In order to find out how different activities affected workers, a team of researchers from the University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Centre and the Johnson & Johnson Human Performance Institute, investigated three movement conditions across 30 adults.

They were all first given a number of tests to assess their health, as well as being questioned about their self-perceived energy, mood, and appetite.

In the first test, the participants sat for 6 hours straight, getting up only to use the bathroom. In the second, they started the day with 30 minutes of moderate walking on a treadmill, while in the third they underwent six five-minute sessions of moderate intensity walking at hourly intervals.

The researchers monitored participant's stress hormone levels, and had participants rate their mood, energy, fatigue, and appetite throughout the day.

The experiments revealed a number of benefits linked to the five-minute activity sessions. None of these exercise regimes were found to effect cognitive function.

The results suggest that even a little bit of activity, spread throughout the day, is a practical, easy way to improve well-being.

So maybe you should think about walking to the corner shop, or walking up and down the stairs instead of taking the lift. It's much better for you!

## The upside of doing absolutely nothing

In this modern frenetic world, with all its trials and tribulations and hustle and bustle, we have forgotten how wonderful it feels to... simply do nothing... to be at ease with one's own thoughts... to just lie on the sofa... to go for a walk to nowhere in particular... or just stare out of the window and daydream...

Believe it or not, doing absolutely nothing can be hugely beneficial, especially if you're feeling overwhelmed. It takes courage and determination to do absolutely nothing, but doing nothing is the perfect antidote to stress.

Trying to do everything creates stress, not to mention feelings of anxiety, insomnia and irritability... even guilt. Chronic stress can also affect the immune system. Because we can't do everything, our bodies and brains are permanently in a state of high alert, and once our stress responses are activated, it can take a while for them calm down.

Just a few minutes of relaxation every day is enough to lower stress and allow longer periods of relative calm. If there's nothing demanding your attention, you can feel the stress seeping out of you. Less stressed people are more friendly – they smile more because they're happier with their lives.

When neurologist Marcus Raichle at the Washington University School of Medicine, Saint Louis, Missouri used an fMRI scanner to measure brain activity, he was able to study how our brains work when we're not.

The results were surprising – the relaxed brains were more active than those whose owners were given a specific task to do. In fact, the network that lit up when people lay still and did nothing included all the major connections in the brain. It turns out the brain is always active – always 'on' – even when you're not using it.

This is why we're more productive after a spot of calm relaxation – it gives the brain a chance to reorganise... a chance to reboot. We become better at problem-solving and more creative because our mind unconsciously embarks on a process of problem solving – just like sleeping on a problem and waking up the next morning with a much clearer idea of a solution.

So when we're taking a shower, sprawling on the couch, or just daydreaming, ideas come together as if by magic. This quiet, seemingly passive work is less obvious, but it's important... even just a few minutes is enough.

Generally, men find it easier to do nothing than women. Men seem to have more free time than women and they're better at protecting it. Generally, women protect their husbands' free time too, even at the expense of their own.

While men and women do approximately the same *amount* of work, generally men do more *paid* work, while women do more unpaid work. From the most primitive jungle societies to modern 21st century cities, doing nothing is practically unheard of among women, even in the most gender-equal countries such as the Norway.

Of course a busy life can be happy and fulfilling, but women also need to slow down! It's no shame to put some time aside for yourself and do absolutely nothing! Really... all you have to do is absolutely... NOTHING...

So forget mindfulness, because it's too much like hard work. Forget being aware of your body, how you breath, the present moment, or your thoughts. Instead, just escape into your head and start daydreaming. Daydreaming requires no preparation, no training, and no special lighting or weird music.

Instead of making a 'to-do' list, make a list of the things you want to *stop* doing. Ask yourself if any of these jobs will really achieve anything, and whether there are any major negative consequences associated with not doing them. Learn to say no to the tasks that don't move you forward. The time you free up is yours, and yours alone.

## Crossword puzzles develop sharper brains and stave off dementia...

It has long been known that keeping an active mind can help to reduce decline in thinking skills.

There are significant links between keeping the brain healthy in old age and a reduced risk of dementia.

Researchers at Exeter University and Kings College London analysed data from more than 17,000 participants and found direct relationships between the frequency of doing crosswords and the speed and accuracy of performance in cognitive tasks that assessed a range of functions including attention, reasoning, speed and memory.

Performance was consistently better in those who regularly did crosswords – and their performance generally improved the more they did them.

The Alzheimer's Society recommends adults do a daily crossword to reduce their risk of developing dementia.

Solving crosswords – especially cryptic crosswords – involves several different brain regions working in unison, including memory and visual imagery.

A recent study by Harvard Medical School and Massachusetts General Hospital showed that although keeping body and mind active doesn't affect the suspected underlying cause of Alzheimer's (a build-up of protein deposits on the brain) keeping mentally fit and doing crosswords can ease the symptoms and still help brains function.

In the meantime, another way to reduce the risk of developing dementia is to keep physically active, avoid smoking and enjoy a healthy balanced diet.

## Think positive - live longer

Researchers from Stanford University tracked the medical data of more than 60,000 Americans and found that positive thinking could extend life expectancy because just believing you are healthy cuts your risk of early death by 71%.

A lot of people openly admit that they are not the healthiest on the planet, but this mindset could be dangerous for our health and wellbeing. In fact, according to the Stanford researchers, people who view themselves as less healthy than others are at a greater risk of suffering a premature death – no matter how active they actually are.

Their research and results – published in *Health Psychology* in 2017 – are the latest of many studies to show how our thoughts, feelings and beliefs have a direct impact on our health.

The team started collecting and documenting information about participant's health, background, and levels of physical activity as far back as 1980. All participants were asked whether they considered themselves to be physically more active, less active, or about as active as other people of the same age.

The researchers then collated death records from 2011 – 21 years after the initial survey. After controlling for physical activity, age, body mass index, chronic illness and other factors, they discovered that people who saw themselves as less active than others were up to 71% more likely to die in the follow-up period than people who thought they were more active than their peers.

It appears that the health benefits people get out of everyday activities depends in part on their mind-set – in other words, getting actual health benefits from exercise depends whether or not they *believe* they are getting health benefits from exercise. Those who deemed themselves unfit were more likely to remain inactive, fuelling feelings of fear, stress or depression that negatively affected their health.

The researchers also cited the well-understood influence of the placebo effect, where patients who *think* they're getting treatment experience physiological changes even though they're not actually getting treatment. People who believe they're getting healthy exercise often get more physiological benefits from their exercise than those who believe they aren't getting enough healthy exercise.

As the placebo effect is well established in medicine, it is only logical to assume that it also plays a role in shaping the benefits of healthy exercise.

A lot of effort, notably in public health campaigns, is geared toward motivating people to change their behaviour – eat healthier, exercise more, and reduce stress.

An increasing volume of research shows that both positive and negative perceptions of healthy living really do affect health and longevity.

Even with everyday experiences, even simple thoughts and beliefs have very palpable physiological effects – this is the core element of *Suggestion*. For instance, a simple thought or idea can have immediate physical effects. These kind of reactions are experienced regularly. We don't realise just how much our thoughts, our mind-set and our expectations affect our everyday physiology.

In the case of stress – which is so closely linked to our emotions – for instance, a single negative thought that something is wrong can make us sweat or increase our heart rate. These are typical reactions of people who suffer from fears and phobias.

Both positive and negative thoughts, feelings and emotions will have a physical constituent and be expressed in physiological reactions. Someone who suffers from arachnophobia will always experience the same physical reaction every time they see a spider. Hypnotherapy offers a highly effective short cut to eliminating the feelings associated with phobias.

By the same token, a doctor who tells a patient they can expect to make a full recovery is helping that patient far more than saying there will be a long and hard road to recovery.

Being mindful of, and feeling good about activities you do every day – like walking, using the stairs, cycling, or doing everyday chores could be an easy first step for everyone to improve their health. Just as important, *believing* these things will make us healthier is the next.

## A better cure for depression?

A daily dose of over-the-counter magnesium tablets significantly improved depression in patients in just two weeks! Magnesium combats the inflammation linked to the condition, but without side effects, whereas antidepressants frequently cause nausea, weight gain and insomnia.

Researchers from the University of Vermont studied 126 adults with mild to moderate depression. Some were given 248mg of magnesium – generally considered a low dose – every day for six weeks while others received no treatment.

Participants were assessed twice a week over the phone. Symptoms rapidly improved regardless of their age, sex or antidepressant use. 61% of the study's participants said they would use magnesium supplements to manage their depression in the future.

Given the great need for more treatment options for depression, the discovery that magnesium supplementation provides a safe, fast and inexpensive approach to controlling depressive symptoms is very encouraging.

The Vermont study was the first clinical trial examining the effect of magnesium supplements on depression in adults.

For further information, read Dr Irving Kirsch's book *The Emperor's New Drugs*. It's a serious indictment of the antidepressant drug industry. I promise you – it's totally shocking!

The results were published in the journal *PLOS ONE*.

## A little exercise will clear your head

Just 30 minutes exercise can create new neurons in regions of the brain responsible for learning, emotion and memory. Modern research has disproved the theory that once humans start to grow older, their brains cannot make new neurons. A handful of recent studies, including one carried out by the American Academy of Clinical Neuropsychology, have discovered that after a run, new neurons are formed in the hippocampus, the area of the brain associated with learning and memory.

It is now thought that if you exercise so much you sweat, new brain cells will be formed. Athletes often report bursts of mental clarity, enhanced moods and frequently experience becoming lost in their own thoughts long enough to confront external tasks.

Other studies have noted an increase of blood flow to the brain's frontal lobe, the area involved in clear thinking, planning, focus and concentration. This region is also associated with the regulation of emotions, which supports the idea that exercise may help reduce sadness.

Even moderate aerobic exercise increases blood flow to the brain's frontal lobe, but although aerobic exercise can't prevent people getting sad or depressed, it can help with recovery. In fact any kind of exercise can aid cognitive thinking because exercise serves to enhance important adaptive functions – self-reflection, creativity, and attention.

To prove their point, the researchers showed a group of 80 volunteer participants the final scene of the 1979 film 'The Champ' (a tear-jerker of note). Before watching the scene, some of the participants were asked to jog for 30 minutes or perform stretching exercises. Each participant was then asked to report how sad the film made them feel, following which the researcher kept them occupied for another 15 minutes, before asking them again.

Participants who reported difficulties with concentration or who felt overwhelmed by their emotions, were less affected following the 30 minutes of aerobic exercise. They also reported feeling less sad at the end of the study than those who did no exercise.

In addition to enhancing each individuals's clarity and memory, researchers discovered another benefit of going for a long run – the propensity to daydream or become lost in their own thoughts, something considered important to wellbeing.

Psychologist Jerome Singer of Yale University and his colleagues suggest that positive and constructive daydreaming serves four broad adaptive functions:

- 1. It assists with future planning, which is enhanced by a period of self-reflection,
- 2. It enhances creativity for problem solving and attentional cycling that allows the individual to rotate through different information streams to develop and/or advance personally,
- 3. It provides meaningful goals,
- 4. It enhances learning through short breaks from external tasks.

The full study and its results were published in the journal *Frontiers in Psychology*.

In the meantime... keeping active, along with a balanced diet, is one of the best ways to reduce the risk of dementia, but research conducted by experts at the University of British Columbia in Canada suggests regular aerobic exercise can actually *reverse* the progress of dementia even after it has taken hold. Their findings, published in the journal *Neurology*, add to growing evidence that physical activity can be used to treat cognitive problems.

A clinical trial carried out with elderly people with an average age of 74 found that those who exercised for one hour three times every week, saw an improvement in their cardiovascular health as well as overall thinking skills. They were also able to walk further and their blood pressure levels improved. However, the benefits only lasted as long as they were able to continue exercising.

The important thing is that an aerobic exercise programme may be beneficial for people who already have early memory problems.

According to a recent article in the journal *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, researchers from the University of Arizona have claimed that going for a short early morning run could help keep you alert for the rest of the day. A part of the brain responsible for decision-making and planning is activated during a short period of healthy exercise.

The Arizona researchers studied 11 competitive male runners aged between 18 and 25 and another 11 young men who said that they had not exercised in the past year. (They focused on men because it is difficult to study women due to the effects of the menstrual cycle on their minds and bodies.)

The men filled out questionnaires about their physical activity levels and from these, the researchers were able to estimate their aerobic fitness. Each volunteer also took an MRI scan to measure the levels of activity in their brains. The runner's brains showed increased connectivity in areas linked to higher-level thinking, whereas there were not the same levels of activity in the brains of the inactive men. There was also less brain activity in the part of the runner's brains which indicate a lack of focus and 'mind wandering.'

In addition, the research also found running helped to improve memory, attention spans and keeps the senses sharp.

Increased connectivity between brain regions is known to improve memory and the ability to multitask. Running involves complex navigational skills as well as an ability to plan, monitor and respond to the environment. This would also include juggling memories of past runs, and the ability to continue with all of the motor activities involved in running, which are complex.

In fairness, the study cannot prove that running actually *causes* the differences in the men's thinking, only that runners had certain types of thought pattern. It is also unclear whether running on its own has these effects, or if the effects are duplicated in other endurance sports, like cycling and swimming, which is more likely.

Britain's National Health Service (NHS) recommends that all adults should do at least two hours of moderate exercise per week but science suggests that a lot less could be just as good for you.

Researchers looking at past studies saw that any amount of exercise, even if it was only a short walk, was good for the brains of people between the ages of 18 and 35. Even two minutes of exercise per day could be enough to improve your brain health and your memory.

We know that exercise is good for the brain because it makes nerve cells more active, but it also increases dopamine levels, helping to sharpen focus and memory. Exercise is also believed to increase levels of a protein called 'brain-derived neurotrophic factor' which is thought to be important for memory.

In a series of tests, the effects of short periods of exercise were found to last for at least two hours while intense exercise brought long-term improvement. As well as boosting brain health, exercise at any level has been proved to bring a wealth of health benefits including strengthened heart and lungs, and a lowered risk of long-term illnesses such as type 2 diabetes, high blood pressure and heart disease.

According to a study published in January 2019 and carried out by scientists at Columbia University in New York, going for a short daily walk or bicycle ride can shave 10 years off your 'brain age.' Regular aerobic exercise boosted essential grey matter in all adults, even those as young as 20. Even climbing the stairs improves thinking skills. Not only that, but the positive effect of physical activity increases with age – people aged 40 had the brainpower to match someone 10 years younger, while 60 year-olds seemed 20 years younger.

The study, which involved 132 people, aged between 18 to 35 who exercised by walking, running or cycling at moderate to high intensity, was published in the journal *Neurology* and found that exercise specifically improved the health of nerves in areas that control executive brain function. These relate to a person's ability to regulate their own behaviour, pay attention, and organise and achieve goals. All the participants who exercised showed not only improvements in executive brain function but also increased the thickness in an area of the outer layer of their brain.

After exercising the participants took tests to analyse their brain power, for example remembering a list of 15 words. Those who exercised in bursts of two minutes, 15 minutes, half an hour or an hour, all improved on tests and showed better concentration and problem-solving skills.

Findings from 13 other studies were collated and then analysed by researchers from Jonkoping and Linkoping universities in Sweden and were published in the journal *Translational Sports Medicine*.

The authors reported the systematic review strongly suggested that aerobic, physical exercise, followed by a brief recovery period, improves attention, concentration, learning and memory functions in young adults. The results of the review may well have important education-related implications. Simple exercise might help students to enhance their learning and memory and the improvements might come from a sustained boost to nerve connectivity in the brain.

Exercising is also known to increase levels of the the feel-good hormone, dopamine, which works as a neurotransmitter, helping signals to flit quickly around the brain. The researchers claim higher levels of dopamine may enhance attention and memory.

However, not everyone is a natural athlete or has hours to work out, but the researchers looked at studies exploring this and found any exercise from two minutes to an hour improved memory and thinking skills for up to two hours.

So... what would be the minimum exercise you would need to do to stay healthy?

Adults aged 19 to 64 should try to be active daily and should do:

- at least 150 minutes of moderate aerobic activity such as cycling or brisk walking every week, PLUS
- strength exercises on 2 or more days a week that work all the major muscles (legs, hips, back, abdomen, chest, shoulders and arms)

or

- 75 minutes of vigorous aerobic activity such as running or a game of singles tennis every week and
- strength exercises on 2 or more days a week that work all the major muscles (legs, hips, back, abdomen, chest, shoulders and arms)

or

- a mix of moderate and vigorous aerobic activity every week for example, 2 x 30-minute runs plus 30 minutes of brisk walking equates to 150 minutes of moderate aerobic activity and
- strength exercises on 2 or more days a week that work all the major muscles (legs, hips, back, abdomen, chest, shoulders and arms)

Aa a rule of thumb, 1 minute of vigorous activity provides the same health benefits as 2 minutes of moderate activity. A more time efficient way to do the recommended 150 minutes of weekly physical activity is to do 30 minutes a day, 5 days every week.

Source: NHS

## LESS exercise is the key to weight loss!

Believe it or not, LESS exercise is the key to weight loss because intense exercise actually prevents your body from burning fat!

Strenuous exercise causes cortisol levels to spike because your body can't tell the difference between exercise stress and normal stress.

High cortisol stops your body burning fat.

WALKING is the best and most natural exercise, but swimming, dancing, gardening & cycling are just as good. Just 20 minutes a day of any of these is all you need.

Your energy levels will be higher – you'll sleep better and feel refreshed in the morning and not tired from exercising. A truly mindful way to lose weight perhaps?

A new study carried out by North Carolina State University has found that mindfulness helped people lose seven times more weight than people on standard diets and that mindfulness is more effective than simply trying to eat healthily.

#### Mindful eating means:

- · Paying attention to feelings of hunger and fullness,
- · Planning meals and snacks,
- Eating as a singular activity as opposed to eating while doing other activities,
- Paying special attention to how food tastes and having just one or two bites of special higher calorie foods,
- Savouring the flavour.

80 people took part in the study. Half designed their own diet – they lost 0.6lbs – while half engaged in daily meditation – and they lost 4.2lbs... seven times the first group's average weight loss.

The researchers say this is a staggering testament to the power of meditation.

A 'small changes approach' is a weight management strategy that emphasises a combination of diet and physical activity. In other words, eat less – exercise more!

The results suggest a beneficial association between mindful eating and weight loss.

The North Carolina researchers are currently studying mindful eating as part of a diabetes prevention program.

Being overweight or obese means risking hypertension, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease, so a bit of mindfulness has got to be better than saving up for the liposuction!

Nonetheless, and cutting through the jargon, it might just be a case of being 'mindful' that you need to exercise a bit of will power.

Scientists at the University of Georgia have found that just 10 minutes of walking – not running – up and down stairs every day will help you lose weight and stay fit.

AND it will increase your energy levels – even more than drinking coffee or soft drinks. It will also result in small improvements in attention, memory and motivation.

If you work in an office, the chances are you won't have much time for exercise and won't feel like going for a walk if it's raining – but you might have access to stairs.

About 700 steps (equal to 30 floors) will do the trick and it takes just 10 minutes. You can drop 2lbs per week doing this – that means losing 1.5 stone in time for the summer holidays!

Remember... walk - don't run!

## Beat stress just by breathing...

You can beat stress, anxiety and panic attacks just by practising 'transformational breathing'... in other words, it's an easy way to feel calmer just by controlling the way you breathe. Here's how...

The first step is to be very conscious of your breathing. Take slower breaths and slowly relax your body bit by bit. Imagine your body becoming numb, from your fingertips to your toes, until every muscle, every joint, every nerve, every sinew, every fibre becomes completely relaxed.

Deep and slow breaths can induce a powerful state of calm, lower blood pressure, and sharper and more focussed thinking. The end result is just like the totally relaxed feeling you get after yoga or a massage.

Breathing exercises have been around for hundreds of years. Controlling breathing can shift your consciousness from anxious to meditative, and is a core component of all types of yoga.

Scientists at Stanford University discovered that the idea of slow breathing is not new-agey nonsense after all, but actually helps the brain to create a sense of calm.

Shallow breaths send messages to the brain that the body is in survival mode, increasing production of stress hormones cortisol and adrenaline, which can lead to chronic anxiety.

The Stanford study was published in the journal Science.

## Going green - the route to better health

Even something moderately energetic, such as gardening, could be beneficial for physical and mental health – pruning the roses and creating something of beauty everyone can enjoy can enhance mental wellbeing, and if you work in a grey office building, spend hours in traffic, or constantly stare at a computer screen, gardening might be the perfect antidote.

Sheffield University's environment expert, Dr Ross Cameron, thinks our busy and sterile modern lifestyle is sapping our spirits. He's coined the phrase 'nature deficit disorder' and he has a point! Dr Cameron believes people notice and appreciate the natural world far less than they used to, and his solution is simple – we need to access the green spaces and get outdoors in the same way previous generations did.

Society is changing and the younger generation especially now spend more time glued to their mobile phones in the virtual world instead of enjoying the fresh air of the natural one. There's the difference – in the past they would go and play in the garden, in the park or in the woodland, and sadly, that's now very rare. We really have lost something important in life. Humans evolved alongside nature, not in concrete cities, and they respond well to nature.

For those who have difficulty getting access to the countryside, the garden is the perfect substitute. Green spaces don't need to be in the wilderness to provide benefits – intimate spaces to engage with are just outside the back door...

Previous research suggests that just half an hour in the garden has long-term benefits for body and mind. Another study found that the sounds of nature – the wind in the trees or the babble of a stream – reduces levels of the stress hormone cortisol and lowers blood pressure.

There is a growing body of evidence that suggests regular gardening can reduce the risk of heart disease, cancer and obesity. It also improves balance in older people, helping to prevent falls – a major cost to health services. Gardening can also help dementia patients, with one trial showing that six months of gardening at home resulted in a slow-down of cognitive decline over the next 18 months.

The physical activity involved in gardening helps relaxation, which is good for mental health, and green spaces are stress-busting environments. Even a little bit of greenery in our environment makes us more relaxed – even a collection of indoor plants is good for wellbeing, one reason they're so popular in hotel lobbies, offices and rest homes.

Jogging for half an hour can burn about 240 calories – but doctors are increasingly encouraging people to take up lighter activities they can more easily include in their daily routine. The Royal Horticultural Society claims that half an hour of digging burns 150 calories, raking a lawn burns 120 and pushing a lawn mower for 30 minutes burns 165 calories.

Even tending a miniature 'garden' made up of pots and boxes in the corner of a backyard or in a conservatory can improve mood and wellbeing. Looking after plants gives people something to live for! It's not just runners that have friends, keen gardeners also make friends.

Humans have a strong emotional connection to the natural world. Walking and running In the country and yes, even gardening, can satisfy that spiritual need. But mental wellbeing and our emotional bond with nature varies depending on the type and quality of nature.

Numerous studies have found that stress levels reduce when people spend time in the natural environment. Time spent in the countryside or at the beach is better for your brain than spending it in city parks.

Researchers at the University of Surrey, University of Exeter, University of Plymouth, Plymouth Marine Laboratory, and natural England, surveyed 4,500 people who spent time enjoying natural open spaces and discovered that those visiting rural and coastal locations were more psychologically content than those taking a trip to an urban green space.

Visits to protected areas, such as national parks, rural or coastal locations, result in improved mental wellbeing and greater feelings of relaxation and refreshment. Those who spent 30 minutes or more in natural environments experienced a better connection and received greater psychological benefits.

A separate study of 199 women and 200 men aged between 19 and 76 by social psychologists at Anglia Ruskin University in Cambridge found that people who spend more time outside also have a more positive body image and also higher self-esteem.

It is possible that experiencing natural environments helps boost the feeling of being an important part of a wider ecosystem, meaning people can feel more respect for their own bodies. It also helps people feel further removed from the pressures of the modern world and lessens the need to conform to stereotypes, such as being thin or muscular.

In any event, it is clear that taking part in healthy activities, or simply enjoying healthy environments makes us healthier people in both body and mind.

Numerous scientific studies have shown that green spaces – and trees in particular – are beneficial to our physical and mental health. Being in their presence has been found to accelerate recovery from illness and to lower stress levels.

Alder Hey Children's Hospital in Liverpool put the theory into practice and has reoriented itself as the 'hospital in the park,' planting trees and providing green spaces and a more environmentally friendly and healthier place for patients and staff.

Studies also show when people's environments feature trees, their immune defences are enhanced and their levels of inflammation, blood pressure and the stress hormone cortisol are all lowered. These ideas have been embraced in Japan, where the practice of using trees to boost health has its own name – Shinrin-yoku, or 'forest bathing.'

A 2011 study reported in the *Japanese Journal Of Hygiene* found spending just five minutes in these areas helps patients feel calmer, more positive and more motivated to work on their recuperation. Even having bonsai trees on hospital wards can lower patients' levels of stress and their need for painkillers, according to a study published last year in the *International Journal Of Environmental Research And Public Health* by psychologists at Chiba University in Japan. The researchers scanned the patients' brains and found that there was less activity in the left prefrontal cortex, an area associated with stress responses, after seeing the tiny trees.

Even just viewing photographs of trees can provide curative benefits. A study by Dr Ulrich of 160 patients recovering from heart surgery at a Swedish hospital found that patients who were positioned to see pictures of a tree-lined stream had reduced anxiety and less

need for pain medication than those who looked at abstract paintings, a blank wall or a white panel.

All this research supports the 'Biophilia' hypothesis – a theory introduced by psychoanalyst Erich Fromm and popularised in the Eighties by Harvard University evolutionary biologist Edward Wilson. They argued that humans have biological and psychological needs for natural stimuli.

It's easy to see why this works. We spent millennia evolving our sensory and bodily functions in wooded landscapes. Since we have started living in cities, these functions have become stressed. If we get unhealthy, we may either need drugs to help our bodies to cope, or we need to rediscover the benefits of the natural environment.

## Happiness, wellbeing, and your immune system...

There's a connection between happiness, wellbeing, your immune system, a contented life, and improved health.

Conversely, chronic unhappiness is a threat to health – stress and depression can negatively affect your immune system, cardiovascular health, and your ability to heal injuries or fight off disease.

The extent to which a happy, cheerful disposition supports good health is unclear because it varies from person to person, so researchers analysed numerous studies to investigate the link between happiness and health.

Happier people are more inclined to exercise regularly and do not smoke. Generosity and altruistic acts also makes people happier because they trigger areas of the brain linked to feelings of contentment.

Even small acts of kindness are enough to create changes in our brains that make us happier. The magnitude of generosity does not influence levels of contentment – even small acts of kindness produce a sense of wellbeing.

Generosity and happiness improve individual wellbeing and can facilitate social success. This is why people feel gratification from giving, even when it exacts a cost to themselves.

Research by the Universities of Utah, Virginia and the University of Lubeck, Germany, published in the journal *Health and Well-Being*.

## Think yourself happy...

For centuries, philosophers and psychologists have asserted that it is the way we think about what happens, not what happens, that determines our emotions and our behaviours. If you think to yourself that life's challenges have blocked you from your goals, happiness and life purpose, then that is exactly what will happen.

Life is full of challenges and set-backs – which happen to us all – and should be viewed as lessons for the future. Every lesson learned serves to guide us next time we meet a challenge or an obstacle. You might even learn new skills or new ways of doing things which will help you achieve your goal next time.

Setbacks and disappointments might even get us to reassess the decisions we have made. It's equally possible that a challenge might even make us more skilled and confident, or even choose a new career.

Of course, thinking positively in the wake of disappointment doesn't stop the experience of pain – the pain will still be there, but thinking positively means you won't be stuck with it! Positive thinking uses the experience to learn, reset our goals and focus on new ways of doing things.

Sometimes the choices are immediately obvious, but they won't always be immediately apparent. Thinking positively gives us the space to start thinking in new ways. Quite often, there will be times when patience will be needed, but you will eventually find solutions, and benefit from them.

#### 1. Make a list

Let's start by making a list of any negative thoughts or the things you frequently say to yourself, all the things that sabotage your happiness and your goals, and STOP saying them. As you identify each one, be determined to banish it. Every time you spot a new one, ban that too.

#### 2. Engage your imagination

Imagine you are walking in a forest, by a river, and you have a backpack on your back and in the backpack are some heavy stones. Each stone represents one problem or one anxiety. Imagine you are reaching into the backpack and taking the stones out one at a time.

As you remove each stone, you can drop them into the river, and watch them sink into the deep water one by one, out of sight, each one, each problem, gone for ever... As you do this, the backpack starts to feel lighter, and when you have removed all the stones, you will notice it feels as light as a feather.

Repeating this exercise – maybe on a daily basis – will help you to stop worrying about the problems and give you space and time to this of more positive ways of bringing things together.

#### 3. Be your own best friend

Third, you have to learn to be your own best friend. It down't matter if your resilience is being tested all the time – talk to yourself as you would want a best friend to talk to you. Inwardly talking to yourself will help your self-belief, your confidence, and focus.

At an unconscious level, your words, whether silent or spoken, will influence your emotions and instruct your mind what to focus on and work towards. Repeated thoughts, emotions and behaviours also change the structure of your brain, so if you don't consciously create good habits, you can, by default, unconsciously and unintentionally create bad habits.

So from now on, do yourself a favour – become the gatekeeper of all that you allow into your mind, and protect and reinforce your determination to succeed. Once you're thinking positively, you're more likely to recognise your goals and find the motivation to achieve them.

Just changing your outlook can give you a different perspective on what happened and motivate you to want to do something to move forward, or to recover. With meaning, comes strength and purpose. Yet still, we don't always pursue the goals we really want.

#### 4. Identify your goals

A client once told me that her goal was to write a book, but she wasn't getting any closer to finishing it. After some discussion, it became obvious that the book was further down her list of priorities than she recognised. Only once she had realised that expanding her social circle and finding a boyfriend were standing in thew way did she start making progress on her book.

If this reminds you of yourself, take a blank piece of paper and divide it into two columns. In the first, write down the important goal, and in the second, why you are motivated to achieve it. Your answers may change as you go through life and you may realise that some will become more or less important over time. The key is to identify your ultimate specific goals, and with a specific date for achieving them by. Review the list at least once a week as it's very important to keep your goals at the forefront of your mind.

#### 5. Choose your friends with care

Positive relationships are always important. People who have good social networks – family, friends, community – are happier, physically healthier and live longer than less well-connected people. People who feel lonely are less happy, tend to have declining health sooner, and die younger than those who have an active circle of friends.

People with low-self-esteem often unintentionally keep unhealthy relationships in their life. But after they distance themselves from negative relationships they start to feel better about themselves. From the moment they ditch the hangers-on and start spending their time with those that are supportive, they quickly build their resilience at such a rapid rate they transform their lives – sometimes in weeks.

#### 6. Ditch the energy thieves

Think about the people in your life who drain your energy, enthusiasm and self-belief. Either minimise your time with them, or – if you have to deal with them – change the

dynamic between you so that you start to feel more confident or resilient when dealing them.

You don't need a degree in psychology to sense when you're being taken for a ride – these are feelings that are easily recognisable from the emotional, even physical sensations you feel inside. Our innermost feelings are connected with our thoughts and emotions, and they can help you to make great decisions.

Celebrities present a false version of life and happiness gurus try to sell you their latest emotional quick fixes.

Happiness as a goal in itself will always be elusive, because the message that we should maximise our positive emotions and avoid our negative ones doesn't work! Worse, it's actually unhealthy!

Feeling down from time to time is normal – one in five people experience depressive symptoms at some time in their lives, yet society is constantly demanding that we should be happy all the time. Believe it or not, depression rates are higher in countries that place too high an emphasis on happiness.

A study of 112 patients who were pressured to feel happy ended up experiencing worse symptoms.

We need to change our attitude to depression if it's to be tackled effectively. Antidepressant drugs often don't work and many people have been prescribed antidepressants when they didn't really need them! [Read Dr Irving Kirsch's eye-opening book *The Emperor's New Drugs*.]

The best way to achieve real happiness is to seize every opportunity and live for the day. Oh, and care about those close to you and spend time with them!

Research from University of Melbourne, Published in the journal *Depression and Anxiety*.

## Being more resilient helps to prevent future setbacks...

Resilience is an acquired skill and not a fixed character trait – so it can be LEARNED. However, it does mean being tough on yourself.

Those who learn from their mistakes develop better confidence, determination, coping strategies, and tolerance for negative situations. So be prepared to overcome adversity!

Here's the important thing – teaching young people to set goals, even after failure, will help them do better in school and generally in life. T

he importance of working on strengths beyond academic or technical achievement will help you cope positively with all the problems and adverse situations you encounter in life.

Reported in the journal Frontiers in Psychology.

## It's OK to dwell on past mistakes...

We're often told not to dwell on the past, and especially on our past mistakes. We are told that if we want to move forward with our lives, we should forget the past and look to the future. But a group of eminent scientists say the opposite is true, because the pain of failure encourages you to make more effort to rectify mistakes, avoid making the same mistake again, and perform better in the future. Dwelling on the past just might be a useful part of the human survival strategy...

Conventional wisdom dictates you should not dwell on your mistakes and not feel bad about them. But Selin Malkoc, Professor of Marketing at the Ohio State University's Fisher College of Business, Noelle Nelson of the University of Kansas and Baba Shiv of Stanford University, believe that when faced with failure, it's actually better to focus on your emotions. If you concentrate on how bad you feel and how you don't want to experience those feelings again, you are more likely to try harder next time.

Most people focus on protecting their egos, about how the failure wasn't their fault, or how it wasn't that big a deal anyway. If your thoughts are all about how to distance yourself from the failure, it is unlikely you will learn from your mistakes.

The researchers conducted several studies. In one, 98 college students were asked to price-search online for a blender with specific characteristics, with the possibility of winning a cash prize if they found the lowest price. Before being told whether they had won the prize, half the participants were told to focus on their emotional response to winning or losing, while the others were instructed to focus on their thoughts about how they did.

However, the task was rigged. After the test, all the participants discovered that the lowest price was actually \$3.27 less than the lowest price they found. After writing about their failure, the students were given another chance by taking on an unrelated task.

The researchers were trying to find out whether the effort made by participants in a new task would be related to whether or not they focused on their thoughts or emotions about their failure. Would a similar or unrelated task trigger participants into recalling their unsuccessful attempt?

So this time, the participants were split into two groups. One group were asked to search for a gift book for a friend that best fitted their limited college-student budget – in other words, they would look for the lowest price, just as they did in the first task. The other group were asked to search for a book that would be the best choice as a gift for their friend.

The participants in the second group's emotional responses to failure motivated them much more than cognitive ones. The emotionally motivated participants spent nearly 25% more time searching for a low-priced book than the participants who had only thought about what would be a good choice for their friend, rather than dwell on the pain of their earlier failure. There was no significant difference in effort made by participants when the second task was unrelated to the first.

The researchers confirmed that the task has to be similar enough to trigger the emotional pain of the initial failure. In other words, when the participants focused on how bad they

felt about failing the first time, they tried harder than the others when they were given another opportunity.

One reason why an emotional response to failure may be more effective than a cognitive one is the nature of people's thoughts about their mistakes. When the researchers analysed what the participants who thought about their failure wrote about, they found significantly more self-protective thoughts. This is what happens with most people.

In another, similar study, where the researchers didn't tell some of the participants how to respond to their failures, they found that these people tended to produce cognitive responses rather than emotional ones, and those cognitive responses were the kind that protected them rather than focused on self-improvement.

In most real-life situations, people probably have both cognitive and emotional responses to their failures. But, the important thing is not to avoid the emotional pain of failing, but to use that pain to fuel improvement.

Emotional responses to failure can hurt – they make you feel bad – which is why people often choose to think self-protective thoughts after they make mistakes. But if you focus on how bad you feel, you're going to work harder to find a solution and make sure you don't make the same mistake again.

Mistakes cause our brains to pause and take stock, but this pause leads to conflicting advice when it comes to making future decisions. During this pause, the brain gathers more information to prevent repeating the same mistake, while at the same time reducing the quality of the knowledge and experience it obtains because of its desire to collect as much information as possible. These two actions cancel each other out and decrease the likelihood of making the best choice next time.

It seems that no matter how hard we try, we still struggle to learn from our mistakes, often making the same errors and choices time and time again.

The results of this study appear in the online Journal of Behavioral Decision Making.

# Being more resilient helps to prevent future setbacks...

Resilience is an acquired skill and not a fixed character trait – so it can be LEARNED. However, it does mean being tough on yourself.

Those who learn from their mistakes develop better confidence, determination, coping strategies, and tolerance for negative situations. So be prepared to overcome adversity!

Here's the important thing – teaching young people to set goals, even after failure, will help them do better in school and generally in life. T

he importance of working on strengths beyond academic or technical achievement will help you cope positively with all the problems and adverse situations you encounter in life.

Reported in the journal *Frontiers in Psychology*.

### Your bad mood can improve your health

Bad moods can boost memory, improve focus and stimulate creativity.

We all get them. Sometimes it's just because we managed to get out of the wrong side bed, or because someone has ticked us off at work, or because our spouse has invited a deeply irritating friend round for the evening. It's all relative of course, but the good news is that your misery can actually improve your health.

It has long been recognised that fear, anger, shame and disgust are beneficial emotions because they help us recognise, avoid and overcome threatening or dangerous situations. But according to researchers at the University of New South Wales, being in a terrible mood is good for you because it can work as an alarm signal for the body that promotes more attentive and focused thought processing in difficult situations. More, bad moods can help with problem solving and improve memory.

The people who participated in the study where able to remember details of a shop they had just left more clearly if they were in a bad mood than if they had been in a happier state of mind. The researchers also found that our bias and judgements were less clouded and insecure when we're cross. That's also good news if someone is trying to feed you a line, because you'll be less likely to believe it.

In addition, people who are angry try harder to answer questions correctly in tests. They are also better at persuading others to have certain opinions.

Sadness and depression has long been seen as an extension of artistic creativity – think Van Gogh, Beethoven, and comedian Tony Hancock – and musicians often sing about break-ups and difficult life experiences.

The original purpose of the study was to dispel the myth that wealth and happiness are the two easiest ways to achieve life satisfaction. However, contrary to popular belief, being upbeat all the time won't necessarily bestow long term happiness. In fact focusing solely on happiness and denying the virtues of sadness is an unachievable goal and creates more disappointment and even depression.

It may seem contradictory, but more fully accepting and experiencing negative emotions can make you happier and empower you to change your life. The message that we should always feel good and try not to feel bad ends up being toxic and doesn't work well as a strategy for getting through life.

There are so many things that affect our thoughts and emotions, such as the weather, the seasons, politics, what's happening in our favourite soap opera, that we can't control. Neither can we control the behaviour of others – only how we react to it. Relying only on positive emotions as an indicator that our lives are going well, or using positive emotions as a goal is also something that is beyond our control.

When it comes to negative emotions, the more we try not to think about something, the more we actually think about it. Just for a moment, try *not* to think of a marauding band of monkeys crawling over you house. And there you are – the image leaps straight into your head.

We need to improve our ability to recognise exactly what we're feeling in the moment. Anger motivates us to get rid of barriers. If you notice you feel sad, it indicates things aren't going as well as you had hoped – but it could also mean your expectations are too high. Hopefully, it might motivate you to face up to the real world by collating information and discover how to deal with reality in a more effective way.

Feeling down can actually help people to focus, manage their time and better prioritise tasks. In fact being in a good mood may hamper time-keeping and organisational skills. However, this is only true for extroverts – introverts tend to grind to a halt when they feel gloomy.

A study by Tara McAuley, a psychology professor at the University of Waterloo, and Martyn S. Gabel, a PhD candidate explored how 95 people coped with daily demands and stresses, depending on their mood.

The researchers focused on emotional reactivity – the sensitivity, intensity and duration of our emotional responses associated with mood. These things are the defining factors that influence our so-called 'effective functioning' – in other words, our abilities to carry out tasks.

They broke down participants in the study into categories of emotional reactivity – high-reactive people and low-reactive people. High-reactive individuals (extroverts) are people who have rapid, intense, and enduring emotional responses, while low-reactive people (introverts) are more relaxed.

In the research, the extroverts performed better on executive function tasks when they were in a bad mood. Meanwhile, low-reactive people showed the opposite effect – their abilities would grind to a halt when they were in a bad mood. The results show that there are some people for whom a bad mood may actually sharpen the kind of thinking skills that are important for everyday life.

We know that emotional reactivity differs from person to person, that this starts at a very early age, and that these individual differences have implications for mental health later in development. But people shouldn't interpret the results as saying it's fine to fly off the handle or overreact, or to be bad tempered with others.

Further research may explain the relationship between high and low reactive people and mood, but other studies also suggest that high-reactive people are more accustomed to experiencing negative emotions. But our emotions do help us make better and stronger efforts toward the things we care about.

Forget what 'happiness' experts say – their goal in life is to sell you more books! Happier emotions are not the goal. We should think of emotions as tools rather than goals.

If we take the goal of happiness out of the equation, the irony is that we will actually feel happier. Happiness is the obscure object of our desire – complete happiness is rarely attainable, and in any event, happiness is very much like love – it's only when you stop searching for it that you actually find it.

# Perfect posture, and how it helps to smile...

In a study at the San Francisco State University, under the direction of Professor of Health Education Erik Peper, 125 students were given a maths test. They were asked to subtract 7 from 843 sequentially in 15 seconds. Half the students were encouraged to sit up straight in their chairs, while the other half were asked to do the test slumped in their chairs or over their desks.

Before the maths experiment began, the students were asked to fill out a questionnaire asking them to rate their levels of anxiety when taking exams or solving maths problems, and describing any physical symptoms of stress they experienced when they took real exams.

No prizes for guessing which group performed the best, but when all the results were in, the experiment proved that where anxiety is present, posture makes a huge difference.

Actors, musicians and anyone involved in public speaking already knows that posture is all important. Even athletes are conscious of the correct posture before and during events. An empowered posture really can optimise your focus, attention and performance. And sitting up properly also helps to banish sore backs!

If possible, you should only sit for around 30 minutes before standing up for a few seconds and even go for a quick walk around. This helps with circulation and helps muscles to flex.

According to co-author Associate Professor of Health Education Richard Harvey, slumping over is a defensive posture that can also trigger old negative memories in the body and brain. While the students without maths anxiety did not report as great a benefit from better posture, they did find that doing maths while slumped over was more difficult.

'You build a relationship with [math] so early – as early as elementary school. You can carry that negative self-talk throughout your life, impacting your perception of yourself.'

The study results demonstrate a simple way to improve many aspects of life, especially when stress is involved, because the way we carry ourselves and interact in space influences not only how others perceive us, but also how we perceive ourselves.

And that's worth knowing...

The power of a smile is not to be underestimated, and scientists have now found that even faking one can make you feel happier. Even just the physical task of smiling activates specific muscles in a person's cheeks and this triggers positive emotions in the brain. This simple exercise has important implications on mental health and could be exploited to help people cope with stress.

Dr Fernando Marmolejo-Ramos, co-author of the study from the University of South Australia, says that when your muscles say you're happy, you're more likely to see the world around you in a positive way. The research found that when you forcefully practise smiling, it stimulates the amygdala – the emotional centre of the brain – which then releases neurotransmitters to encourage an emotionally positive state.

For mental health, the study has interesting implications, because if we can trick the brain into perceiving stimuli as 'happy,' then the mechanism can be used to help boost mental health.

Study participants were asked to hold a pen between their teeth without letting the item touch their lips in order to forcefully trigger the cheek muscles. Then, volunteers from Japan, Poland and Sweden were told to study the facial and features of 11 images of the same face but showing a variety of emotions, ranging from frowning to smiling. Then, they looked at 11 video clips showing the outline of people walking. The study evaluated how people processed this information when they were forced to smile and when their face was relaxed.

For both facial and body analysis, people who were forced to smile found themselves flooded with more positive emotions. These results show that both perceptual and motor systems are intertwined when we emotionally process stimuli.

American psychologists also collated and examined nearly 50 years of data testing whether facial expressions can lead people to feel the emotions related to those expressions. They found smiling made people feel happier, scowling made them feel angrier, and frowning made them feel sadder.

So smiling really can make you feel happier!

The complete findings are published in the journal Experimental Psychology.

### Reminiscing about happy times can beat stress...

Thinking about a time when you were happy is one of the best ways to beat stress.

Remembering the good times can cut your stress response by 85% because it fires up the reward centres in the brain. Even just thinking about happy times – visualising positive things or even dreaming about a happy future works better than simply trying to distract yourself.

The ability to reminisce about the past is important for happiness – the opposite of ruminating on negative memories that can lead to depression.

Researchers tested the effectiveness of pleasant memories on stress on 134 volunteers.

The results showed that those who thought about happy times felt calmer. When their brains were scanned, the participants who remembered happier times showed activity in the circuits linked to reward processing and emotion regulation.

The technique seems to be most effective for people who were already emotionally resilient, but the study concluded that thinking about good memories has a much better effect that [fashionable] mindfulness, which encourages people to focus on the present, rather than the past or the future.

Research by Dr Mauricio Delgado and Megan Speer at New York's Rutgers University – reported in the journal *Nature Human Behaviour*.

# Positive thinking keeps you young!

Positive thinking may be the key to staying healthy. Optimists who believe their life has meaning walk faster, suffer less pain as they age, and have stronger grips. And over 50's are more likely to judge life worth living if they're married and see their friends at least once a week. The flip side of this is that spending too much time alone, or sitting in front of the television, can make life feel less meaningful.

Researchers at University College London (UCL) questioned more than 7,000 people aged 50 to 90 on how meaningful they felt their lives were. Those who judged life most worthwhile were 16% more likely to be married and 13% less likely to live alone. They were also 13% more likely to see friends at least weekly, and much more likely to be a member of an organisation, from a church to a Neighbourhood Watch or a social club.

Those whose lives held least meaning spent almost twice as much time alone during the day – more than six hours on average. They also spent 50 minutes more a day watching television.

Social engagement is a very important component of living a meaningful life for many people. Being a member of an organisation may be meaningful in itself, but it can also provide social contact. Conversely, finding meaning when you're on your own is more difficult, since for most people, meaning is linked to relationships.

We shouldn't underestimate just how important this sense of meaning is – people who see their lives as meaningful are also much more healthy.

The UCL study asked older people to rate how meaningful they felt their lives were on a scale of 0 to 10. Asking a range of other questions about people's lives, they found those who rated their lives the most meaningful, with a score of 9 or 10, were 10% most likely to be among the highest earners. These people were also around a third less likely to be depressed, less obese, and a fifth more likely to get good or very good sleep at night. They walked faster, ate better, and were less likely to be disabled or suffer from chronic illness.

A sense of meaning can give people the motivation to live more healthily, with those who see life as most worthwhile – and 11% were more likely to exercise. To get that sense of meaning, it's important to spend time with other people. Those who rated their life's meaning between 0 and 2 spent 5 hours and 18 minutes alone during the day, compared to 2 hours and 46 minutes for people who saw their lives as more meaningful.

People were more likely to see their life as worthwhile if they volunteered or did a cultural activity such as visiting a museum or going to the theatre at least every few months. People whose lives were less meaningful spent 4 hours and two minutes watching television in an average day, compared to three hours and 17 minutes for those who saw life as less worthwhile.

Having a good relationship with others improves people's sense of meaning, which can then lead to more social activities.

The study was published in the journal *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*.

### How to improve your memory

Our memories seem to be declining these days because of 'digital dependency' which sees more of us relying on our mobile phones and search engines to help us out when we can't remember something. Not only are we outsourcing our memory but also other mental functions to electronic devices. The danger is, as useful as these devices are, people should be aware that they need to be wary of letting them do everything for us – the use it or lose it principle particularly applies to memory!

We used to remember the phone numbers of family and friends, and parents would make us memorise emergency numbers. Ask yourself – how many numbers can you remember Now? Some people even struggle to remember their own! Conversely, at the age of 64, I can still remember my home telephone number and my grandma's telephone number from when I was a child!

Everyone is capable of remembering much more than they already do.

Some people use mnemonics or songs to remember things, but there are other more effective tricks. For instance, simply drawing a picture of what you want to remember will help you recall twice as much information.

Drawing creates a more cohesive memory that integrates at least four components: imagination, visualisation, motor action and pictorial representation. When we change a word into a drawing – a visual representation – we also create physical characteristics of the item (this is known as elaboration.) Then, we have to create a visual image of the thing we need to remember while at the same time engaging the hand movements needed for drawing which also stimulate and create new neural connections.

At the Department of Psychology at the University of Waterloo, Jeffrey Wammes PhD tested drawing against a number of other encoding strategies – and drawing always revealed the best results.

Wammes' team gave a group of student volunteers a list of simple, easy to draw words like 'pear' or 'balloon.' They were then given 40 seconds to either draw the words or write them repeatedly. Once completed, they were given a filler task of classifying musical tones in order to test the retention process.

The team then gave the students 60 seconds to recall as many words as possible. The experiment showed a significant recall advantage of drawing over writing – participants were able to recall as many as twice as many drawn items than written words. In variations of the experiment where students drew the words repeatedly, or added visual details to the written letters, such as shading or doodles, the results remained the same. In other words, the memory of drawn words was superior to all other alternatives.

Drawing also led to better permanent memory than simply listing physical characteristics. The quality of the drawings made no difference to participants ability to recall information, suggesting that everyone could benefit from this memory strategy, regardless of their artistic talent – even artistically incompetent volunteers gained a huge advantage in later memory retention, even when they had just four seconds to draw their picture.

I've tried this and I guarantee, it works!

When meeting people for the first time, we tend to be pretty good at remembering faces we've seen because this engages more of the senses. The idea is to activate more areas of the brain, thereby building more connections to the information so it becomes easier to retrieve when you need it.

Remembering names is a problem for a lot of people... How many times have you met someone for the first time, only to forget their name within seconds of them introducing themselves? It's a frustrating (and embarrassing) situation many people find themselves in – but there are some simple techniques you can use to ensure you never suffer those awkward moments again. Once you use the right technique and correct approach to committing things to memory, you'll notice an immediate difference right away.

It's easy to remember the faces of people we met through work or social events, but when it comes to remembering their names, we're not so great. When you are interacting with someone, you always see the face and its features become recorded in our visual memory, but you rarely say their name because as far as the brain is concerned, names are more abstract.

A good way to remember names or pieces of information is to change this information into something visual – so Mike becomes a microphone, Alice (in Wonderland) becomes a girl in a flowery dress, and Alex becomes a steaming pile of poo. Or... you could use rhyming words, such as Mark the shark, Robert the robot, or Jane the pain, Agatha the pagatha, and so on. Linking something visually to the name will also help.

Here are some memory tricks that will help you:

- Whenever you are introduced to someone, immediately repeat their name, for example: 'Nice to meet you, Rupert.' We don't always pay attention when someone introduces themselves because our minds are on something else. Repeating it forces you to pay attention.
- Early in your interaction with a new person, use their name to reinforce it in your mind. 'So John, tell me about...' You don't have to keep using their name that might be a bit weird, just use it once early on and that should be enough to establish it in your memory.
- Take a few seconds to connect the person's name to anything you already know. For example, an actor or character from a TV show or movie, or a friend or family member that has the same name. You could match in the visual idea here as well – link something about that person's look to another visual that reminds you of the way their name sounds, or what they do.
- When you leave the party or meeting, make a point of saying goodbye using their name... 'See you again Bob.' That will help remember more names the next time you see that group of people.
- If you've already forgotten it, there's no shame in asking the person their name again. They won't be offended more likely they will appreciate that you care enough to remember their name.

There's power in remembering names. Politicians need to know the names of everyone they meet, although in fairness, they are usually briefed on who they're going to meet, what they do, what their partner's name is etc. Of course they're only doing this to boost their own popularity in order to get more votes. But for the rest of us mere mortals,

remembering the names of people we come into contact with will just make us more likeable. It may even help us get promoted or open over avenues of opportunity.

Age is not a factor when it comes to memory. People in their sixties and seventies often outperform people in their twenties and thirties. Generally speaking, someone older might not have a memory as sharp as someone younger, but a key factor is how much they use their memory and exercise it. People that keep themselves mentally active tend to be sharper than their younger counterparts.

By keeping your brain and mind stimulated, you can keep your memory sharp at any age. One important thing to bear in mind is that alcohol interferes with the ability to transform information into long-term memory.

But the more areas of the brain involved in building a memory, the more connections there are to the information, the more likely it is you will remember it. All it takes is a little practice.

# Reminiscing about happy times can beat stress...

Thinking about a time when you were happy is one of the best ways to beat stress.

Remembering the good times can cut your stress response by 85% because it fires up the reward centres in the brain. Even just thinking about happy times – visualising positive things or even dreaming about a happy future works better than simply trying to distract yourself.

The ability to reminisce about the past is important for happiness – the opposite of ruminating on negative memories that can lead to depression.

Researchers tested the effectiveness of pleasant memories on stress on 134 volunteers.

The results showed that those who thought about happy times felt calmer. When their brains were scanned, the participants who remembered happier times showed activity in the circuits linked to reward processing and emotion regulation.

The technique seems to be most effective for people who were already emotionally resilient, but the study concluded that thinking about good memories has a much better effect that [fashionable] mindfulness, which encourages people to focus on the present, rather than the past or the future.

Research by Dr Mauricio Delgado and Megan Speer at New York's Rutgers University – reported in the journal *Nature Human Behaviour.* 

# Coffee could add years to your life... and help you lose weight!

A study by Imperial College London of more than half a million people in Europe found men were 18% and women 8% less likely to die from any cause than non-coffee drinkers (based on 3 cups of coffee a day.) Similar results were recorded by American scientists who studied 185,885 people.

It makes no difference whether the coffee contains caffeine or is decaffeinated, because it's the antioxidant compounds in coffee that are responsible for life-extending effects – particularly circulatory and digestive diseases.

Previous studies have suggested coffee can reduce the risk of heart disease, diabetes, liver disease, and certain cancers.

#### Coffee Perks:

- Caffeine keeps us awake, improves our mood, reaction time, vigilance, memory and general thinking ability.
- Caffeine raises metabolism and improves athletic performance by more than 10%.
- Coffee reduces the risk of type 2 diabetes by between 23% and 67%.
- Coffee protects your brain in old age by reducing the risk of dementia by 60% and Parkinson's disease by 32 to 60%.

It also lowers the risk of liver cancer by 40%.

Both UK and US studies were published in the journal *Annals of Internal Medicine*.

Caffeine helps to burn calories by boosting the release of oxytocin, which affects both appetite and metabolism. Researchers have found caffeine significantly reduces food intake and increases energy expenditure.

Caffeine is safe for consumption in doses of up to 400mg (approx. 4 cups) per day for adults.

Studies suggest caffeine may also have a variety of health benefits, including combating liver disease, type 2 diabetes and could even help people live longer.

A Dutch report earlier this year showed that drinking more coffee may help to stave off liver cancer – people who drink just one cup of coffee a day are 20% less likely to develop the most common form of the disease.

Coffee is the world's most widely consumed stimulant and is reported to boost daily energy expenditure by around 5%. Combining 2 to 4 daily coffees with regular exercise is even more effective at keeping the weight off!

A 2015 study showed just a couple of cups a day could help millions of dieters stay trim once they have achieved their desired weight.

# Performance is the best therapy

We perform better when we have an audience even if we're nervous and get dry-mouth and a rising sense of panic! Singing, playing an instrument or taking part in amateur dramatics is often nerve-wracking. Believe it or not, we perform better in front of people than when we're alone because having to face an audience boosts our motor skills.

In an experiment at Johns Hopkins University, researchers recruited 20 people aged 19 to 32 to play a tricky computer game and paid them a small amount of money based on how well they did.

When they were watched by an audience of just two people, all but two of the participants did better – some up to 20% better than when they played alone. Only two out of the 20 failed to improve in front of an audience.

The players had their brains scanned by an MRI machine and researchers found that when they knew they were playing in front of an audience, they showed increased activity in the prefrontal cortex – the part of the brain linked to social awareness and reward and thought to weigh up the thoughts and intentions of others. The parts of the cortex associated with reward also lit up. Together these signals triggered activity in the ventral striatum, an area of the brain that motivates action and motor skills, boosting their controlling motor skills to improve performance. People with social anxiety tended to perform better.

People try harder, and do better, when they're under pressure because they secretly worry about how they present themselves and how they'll be judged. Performing well is seen as increasing social approval, while a poor performance can have an adverse impact on your social standing.

Any true performer or entertainer knows that having an audience makes you feel *alive*, and the whole experience encourages you give the performance your all.

The findings were published in the journal Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience.

### Swearing makes you feel better!

So, so far so good. We've looked at meditation, mindfulness, and delved into the murky world of pseudo-scientific nonsense. So the next natural step is to delve even deeper into the unpleasant world of offensive language. Believe it or not, swearing is actually beneficial! Numerous studies have confirmed that using swear words may actually be be a sign of intelligence, honesty and creativity, as well as a way to withstand pain.

Although swearing is considered the language of poverty, researchers found well-educated people are better at coming up with swear words than those with a smaller vocabulary. Profanity has also been linked to honesty and creativity, as people choose such powerful words to express their emotions. When this happens, an area of the (creative) right brain is activated.

Timothy Jay, professor emeritus of psychology at the Massachusetts College of Liberal Arts, who has studied swearing for more than 40 years, says 'The advantages of swearing are many.... The benefits of swearing have just emerged in the last two decades, as a result of a lot of research on brain and emotion, along with much better technology to study brain anatomy.' Professor Jay has conducted a number of studies into the art of swearing and believes there is an evolutionary advantage to using bad language.

A study from 2017 conducted by an international team of researchers found that profanity is typically used to express the person's genuine feelings. That study determined those who swear are honest at an individual level and with integrity at a society level because truth tellers get right to the point and do not think about what they are going to say. Liars on the other hand use more brain power to formulate their stories and are very meticulous in the way they use words.

Swearing appears on the right side of the brain in what is known as the 'creative brain.' [There are a number of cases where patients who have had a stroke on the right side of their brain stopped swearing, even if they had swore their entire lives.]

Swearing also gives us superpowers by allowing us to endure more pain, both physical and emotional. Researchers from Keele University's School of Psychology confirmed that swearing can have a pain-lessening effect. Volunteers submerged their hands in a tub of ice water for as long as possible while repeating their swear word of choice. They found that the volunteers were able to keep their hands submerged in the ice water for longer when repeating the swearword, showing a link between swearing and an increase in pain tolerance.

Although there are numerous studies of the benefits of swearing. There are those that think swearing can make you seem dishonest and less intelligent than your peers. Even those who are not offended by foul language often hold lower opinions of swearers than non-swearers. As well as being perceived as lacking intelligence and trustworthiness, foul mouthed individuals are also judged as less likeable and more aggressive.

# A good cry can activate your reset button

A group of psychology researchers from the University of Queensland observed 197 female volunteers who watched either a sad or a 'neutral' 17 minute film clip. After watching the film, they were exposed to physical stress by submerging their hand into icy water for as long as they could stand it. Saliva samples were taken four times to measure levels of the 'stress hormone' cortisol.

Women were chosen after a pilot test found they are more likely to cry than men. The heart rates of those who cried during the clip slowed before they started crying but gradually returned to normal as they composed themselves, but they maintained a constant breathing rate during the ice water test. The dry-eyed participants' breathing however, accelerated and became more erratic, but there was no difference in cortisol levels or the ability to withstand the ice water between the groups.

Crying has been shown to facilitate 'coping and recovery,' thought to occur due to the 'psychological changes' that take place when we shed tears. It's thought that crying also gets rid of toxins and brings about some kind of biological change that helps us to deal with stressful or painful situations.

The results suggest crying may assist in generally maintaining biological homeostasis, the process of maintaining a constant internal environment, including heart rate and blood pressure. Crying may also help people 'self-soothe via purposeful breathing' while also regulating their heart rate. Women weep up to four times longer than men!

The researchers stress, however, crying may cause different bodily responses in different real-world settings, for instance if someone is mourning a death or the break up of a relationship. The response may also vary if someone is crying alone or with a loved one on hand to offer support.

And for those who find crying embarrassing or feel judged for it, blubbering may do more harm than good. If you believe crying makes you feel worse, these physiological changes are probably not going to make you feel better overall. The researchers published the results of their work in the journal *Emotion*.

Weeping triggers the release of natural anti-stress endorphins that create – wait for it – a feeling of wellbeing. Weeping is distinct from crying (usually a response to pain) while weeping – unique to humans – is an emotional expression of both grief and happiness.

It can also be an appeal to others for empathy and can also stabilise mood. It can occur during intense positive emotional experiences such as watching a romantic film, seeing grandchildren for the first time, or making an Oscar acceptance speech.

There are several different historical theories about the origins and purpose of weeping.

For instance it's possible that when prehistoric humans used fire in farewell cremation rites, tears triggered by the smoke became associated with sadness. It's equally possible that people feel better after weeping because tears actually remove chemicals built up as a result of emotional stress.

Research from Siena University Hospital, Italy, reported in New Ideas In Psychology.

### Chocolate is good for you after all!

Chocolate is now being touted as a health food! New research suggests there may be some positive health advantages to eating chocolate, including benefits to your heart and brain.

Chocolate (made from the seeds of the Theobroma cacao tree) is thought to date back to the Olmec civilisation in Mesoamerica over 3,000 years ago. Ever since, demand for chocolate has boomed with billions of people indulging in its chocolaty delights. In fact chocolate is often considered to be the ultimate comfort food, mood changer and romantic gesture.

But it's not all about self-indulgence, guilt and weight as the health benefits stem from the cocoa and not chocolate itself, which is made by adding sugar and fat. Overindulgence in chocolate (and other sweet foods) can cause weight gain and even a sense of guilt in some people, but weight gain is more likely to be the result of the added sugar.

The purest forms of cocoa are cocoa powder and raw cacao, which contain the greatest concentration of goodness – *without* the added sugar. Any health benefits from eating chocolate means sticking to dark varieties made of and containing more than 70% cocoa.

Cocoa is a rich source of minerals including magnesium, which helps to maintain healthy bones and promote muscle relaxation; iron, which helps to maintain healthy red blood cell production; and zinc, which helps to make new cells in the body. There are also more antioxidants in cocoa than almost any other food on the planet!

These antioxidants are called flavanols (also present in fruit and vegetables) and are at the root of many of the findings from research linking cocoa to disease protection. In fact there's a lot of evidence cocoa may provide significant health benefits, most of which appear to be focused on cardiovascular disease. Certainly, including raw cacao or cocoa powder in your diet will offer the greatest benefit as they both contain the highest concentration of minerals and flavanol antioxidants. But... if you're just looking for a sweet treat and only chocolate will do the trick, then choosing dark chocolate with at least 70% cocoa will definitely be the better choice!

Chocolate affects mood because cocoa increases the levels of several chemicals in the brain that are linked to mood. For instance, phenylethylamine (PEA) – a chemical that has been shown to boost mood, and tryptophan that is converted to the hormone serotonin provides the 'feel good' factor. Cocoa also contains theobromine, which is similar in effect to caffeine, but mercifully, without the jittery side-effects. Together, these three chemicals may explain why chocolate is considered to be so addictive.

When it comes to heart disease, the flavanols in cocoa are thought to dilate the arteries, which improves elasticity and may reduce the risk of heart attack. The effect of these antioxidants are thought to be similar to aspirin in that they help to thin the blood and prevent blood clots. Research has shown that the effect after drinking a cup of cocoa lasts around six hours. An analysis of seven studies carried out by researchers at Cambridge University found that both men and women with the highest intake of cacao or dark chocolate were 37% less likely to suffer with coronary heart disease and 29% less likely to experience a stroke compared to those with the lowest intakes.

Research into how chocolate affects blood pressure on the Chibchan speaking people of the island of Cuna, where cacao is a traditional food, found that the islanders didn't appear to develop high blood pressure as they got older, and this is attributed to the high amounts of cocoa they consume on a daily basis. The researchers noted that once they left the island and consumed less cocoa they also lost the protective effect on blood pressure.

The link between cocoa and blood pressure is that the flavanols it contains increase the availability of nitric oxide in the blood, which dilates blood vessels and lowers blood pressure. Researchers from Adelaide University found that drinking cocoa – rich in flavanols – significantly lowers blood pressure compared to a flavanol-free chocolate drink.

Several studies have shown that drinking cocoa at least five days a week boosts blood flow to the parts of the brain that help with cognition, which in turn can improve mental performance and alertness. The antioxidants in cocoa also help to neutralise low-grade inflammation associated with 'foggy' thinking. The benefits were most pronounced in those people who had already started to show signs of memory decline or mild cognitive impairment that can lead to Alzheimer's.

Studies of older people who were mentally impaired found that those who regularly drank cocoa had greater improvements in memory and verbal reasoning than those who didn't. It's for this reason cocoa has been of interest to researchers investigating dementia.

If, like me, you are a bit of a chocaholic, the best news is that the darkest chocolate bars on the market are the best for your health. A suspiciously large number of studies showed dark chocolate boosts the immune system, heart health and memory.

Researchers at Loma Linda University in California found that high concentrations of cacao – that is, chocolate bars with more than 70% cacao – helped boost the brain and cardiovascular system by increasing blood flow and reducing inflammation. Those who ate the darkest chocolate showed lower levels of stress and stronger immunity. As well as playing a vital part of the body's immune response, cacao can play a positive role in suppressing cancer, heart disease, diabetes, dementia and depression.

Two studies were carried out to test the effect of eating dark chocolate on the immune system and the brain. The first study found bars with 70% cacao increased the production of chemicals that combat inflammation by changing the expression of genes. The second study found they improved memory by boosting connections between brain cells – a process known as 'neuroplasticity'.

Participants in one trial wore electroencephalography (EEG) caps which recorded electrical signals 30 minutes and two hours after they consuming 48g of 70% dark chocolate. The findings showed that the 'superfood' of 70% cacao enhanced neuroplasticity for behavioural and brain health benefits, including cognitive, hormonal and cardiovascular health.

The flavonoids found in cacao are extremely potent antioxidants and anti-inflammatory agents with known benefits for brain and cardiovascular health. A study by Italian scientists also found cocoa flavanoids in dark chocolate boosted blood flow to key parts of the brain, improving memory and attention span, better heart health and grey matter linked to age-related decline. People who ate chocolate every day were found to have better attention spans, working memory, ability to process speed and verbal fluency. The team also found that women who ate chocolate after a night without sleep experienced lower levels of brain impairment, raising hopes for people who suffer from insomnia and shift workers.

### Cheers! How red wine can improve your health

'In wine there is wisdom, in beer there is freedom, in water there is bacteria.'

### Benjamin Franklin.

Red wine lowers cholesterol, reduces the risk of heart disease, lowers the risk of stroke, cuts the risk of colon cancer, controls blood sugar levels and prevents dementia. Now that's what I call value for money!

As a connoisseur of red wine, I was delighted to hear about a scientific report suggesting that light-to-moderate drinking slashes the risk of an early death by a fifth. Particularly heartening was that red wine – in moderation – was singled out as being beneficial.

There have been dozens of other studies that also suggest drinking moderate amounts of alcohol – roughly 21 units a week for men and 14 for women – a figure conjured out of thin air in 2016 by the UK Department of Health, could protect you from various diseases, and even extend your life. Fourteen units of alcohol per week is the equivalent of about six pints of average-strength beer or 10 small glasses of low-strength wine. Twenty-one units is the equivalent of about nine beers or 15 glasses of wine.

Researchers worldwide have linked moderate consumption to preventing the common cold, improving your sex life, and even reducing the risk of developing gallstones.

However, the Chief Medical Officer and self-appointed do-gooder for England, Dame Sally Davies, advised that there is no safe drinking limit 'because alcohol is toxic to the liver and other organs.' She stated women should consider their risk of breast cancer every time they reach for a glass of wine and advised the public to swap alcohol for a cup of tea.

But... the danger has been exaggerated to get the message across that over indulgence is bad for you and others if your drinking is out of control. That is certainly true – excessive drinking is linked to a host of health issues including cancer, poor mental health, liver disease and premature death, not to mention domestic violence, road deaths and general bad behaviour our town centres on Friday and Saturday nights.

Sir David Spiegelhalter, professor of the public understanding of risk at Cambridge University, says that the long-term effects of low alcohol consumption are complex and difficult to investigate, which is why people have been to some extent misinformed and even confused. And Mr John Scurr, a leading consultant vascular surgeon at the Lister Hospital, Chelsea, agrees that we are getting mixed messages when it comes to the link between alcohol and health.

The Department of Health takes a very firm line on alcohol and claims it is never safe. Yet a host of scientific studies show that alcohol in moderation can be beneficial. Some people do drink to excess and others become addicted, but to say drinking is always bad is just plain wrong! We should take a more reasoned look at alcohol and health.

#### 1. Liver disease

Too much alcohol can lead to a range of liver complaints, including fatty liver disease, hepatitis and other problems. At University College London, Professor Rajiv Jalan says

people with healthy livers do not need to abstain. The liver is designed to cope with a certain level of toxicity in the blood. Although not beneficial to the liver, alcohol in moderation – one or two units taken with meals – is not enough to harm it.

The bad news is older people build up a tolerance to alcohol over the years and are thus more at risk of liver disease. As they age, their livers renew more slowly and are damaged by alcohol more quickly.

Oldies should be careful with drink, especially if they are taking prescription drugs, which when metabolised in the liver can affect metabolism – for example, alcohol can inhibit the action of the blood thinning agent warfarin and increase the risk of blood clots and stroke.

#### 2. Diabetes

Alcohol contains huge amounts of calories and so drinking can cause blood sugar levels to rise – a pint of lager is the equivalent of a slice of pizza – and obesity is a risk factor for type 2 diabetes. Too much alcohol can also reduce the body's sensitivity to insulin, the hormone that regulates blood sugar levels, and increase the likelihood of diabetes.

Conversely, moderate drinking may actually help to protect against type 2 diabetes. According to a review of 15 studies published in journal *Diabetes Care*, healthy adults who drank just three units of alcohol a day lowered their risk of getting type 2 diabetes by up to 40% for women but only 30% for men. The research also found that non-drinkers ran the same risk of developing the disease as heavy drinkers.

### 3. Heart Disease

Multiple studies have shown that alcohol may protect against heart disease because it helps raise levels of 'good' HDL cholesterol and prevents furring of the arteries. A study published in the *British Medical Journal* in 2017, involving nearly two million people, found that drinking in moderation – no more than 14 units of alcohol per week for women and 21 for men – protected the heart more than abstinence!

Moderate drinkers were found less likely to have problems such as angina, heart attack, stroke and aortic aneurysm than non-drinkers. Heavy drinking had the opposite effect, increasing the risk of all these diseases.

Some specialists encourage patients with vascular problems to drink regular small amounts of alcohol to help alleviate symptoms. Alcohol causes blood vessels to dilate which in turn brings down blood pressure and improves circulation.

Professor Martin Cowie, a consultant cardiologist at Imperial College, London, says he never tells his middle-aged patients who drink moderately to give up alcohol. Like Aspirin, alcohol makes the blood less sticky, thus reducing the risk of strokes. Who needs Warfarin when a glass of red will do the trick?

### 4. Breast Cancer

It appears that there is no level of alcohol that is completely safe in terms of breast cancer. A review of evidence published by the American Institute for Cancer Research and the World Cancer Research Fund is that even moderate drinking, say just one glass of wine a day, can increase the risk of breast cancer by 5% for pre-menopausal women and 9% for post-menopausal women, while heavy drinkers can increase their risk by up to 50%.

Alcohol may also damage DNA in cells, allowing cancers to develop, and can also increase the levels of certain hormones, including oestrogen, which can assist the development of hormone-sensitive breast cancer.

According to a study published in the *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, drinking alcohol in moderation may actually help women with the disease live longer. Women who drank up to six drinks per week before their diagnosis reduced their risk of dying from breast cancer by 15% compared to those who abstained.

#### 5. Dementia

A unique study from the University of San Diego found that moderate to heavy drinkers – that is, those who had more than three drinks a day for women and four drinks a day for men – were actually helping to stave off dementia in old age.

Researchers examined older men and women's health and compared it to their cognitive abilities. They found that alcohol consumption is not only associated with reduced mortality, but with increased chances of remaining cognitively healthy into older age.

### 6. Life expectancy

Will a daily glass or two help you live longer? According to a study published in August 2017 by the American College of Cardiology, the answer is a resounding YES!

Adults who had more than three drinks a week but less than 14 (seven for women) slashed their risk of early death from all causes by 25% for women drinkers and 13% for male drinkers. But those results are reversed for heavy drinkers, who are 25% more likely to die early.

While Dame Sally Davies, the tea-total Chief Medical Officer and party animal, dismisses the argument that red wine can be healthy, other studies suggest it has a chemical composition that makes it special.

Antioxidants in red wine, such as resveratrol and proanthocyanidins, which help mop up harmful free radicals in the blood, are believed to provide health benefits. Red wine also contains flavonoids, compounds used in many drug therapies to help improve circulation. Resveratrol is found in grape skin and also in non-alcoholic red grape juice. Non-drinkers who want to get the benefit of the compound – thought to help keep arteries flexible and decrease blood pressure – could benefit from drinking it.

Pure alcohol (ethanol) which is found in spirits, beer and cider, is probably responsible for the majority of the protective effect against cardiovascular disease because it causes vasodilation – the expansion of blood vessels – and helps to keep arteries free from furry deposits which can lead to heart disease.

Low-calorie alcoholic drinks are preferable as they help to reduce weight gain. Beer – often blamed for being high in calories – actually contains half the amount as a similar volume of red wine – but of course people tend to drink twice as much of it.

Overall, studies seem to suggest that alcohol can be beneficial. In particular, red wine in moderation has been shown to bestow the greatest benefits – even more so than white wine – and surprisingly, abstinence.

A study at Harvard study found that a glass of red wine a day keeps the doctor away because they were less likely to be admitted to hospital than teetotallers – and a study of 21,000 men and women in Italy found that for moderate drinkers, when mixed with a typically Mediterranean diet, a small glass of wine (125ml) a day lowered the chance of needing medical treatment compared with heavy drinkers or those who abstain, like Chief Medical Officer Dame Sally Davies. Those who never touched a drop were 11% more likely to find themselves hospitalised than those in the one-glass-a-day club.

The Harvard study was published in the journal Addiction.

Drinking wine in moderation – five or more glasses a week – cuts the risk of needing eye surgery by a whopping 23%. In a study by Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and University College London's Institute of Ophthalmology, researchers found that drinkers who consumed up to 14 units per week were less likely to develop cataracts – the cloudy patches that form in the lens of the eye.

While the reason for the link is unclear, the experts think that polyphenol antioxidants – especially abundant in red wine – may have a protective role. But the most significant reduction in risk was linked to drinking wine rather than beer, cider or spirits, where there was no significantly reduced risk. The research examined data from more than 490,000 people in the UK and was published in the journal *Ophthalmology*.

A glass of red anyone...?

# The shape of water

Water is the most important thing we need to stay alive! Your body body needs water, but it's important to drink the right amount; not enough and you'll dehydrate - too much and you'll literally drown in your own fluids!

A common question is 'how do I know I'm drinking the right amount of water each day?' Some people say that you need to drink at least 2 litres of water every day, but that isn't necessarily true. The answer is, everyone is different and so the amount of water you need can depend on body mass, how much exercise you take, how hard you're working, and believe it or not, how hard you think!

Losing as little as 2% of your body's water content can significantly impair physical performance. If we don't stay hydrated, physical performance can suffer. This is particularly important during intense exercise or high heat. Dehydration can have a noticeable effect if you lose as little as 2% of your body's water content.

However, it is not uncommon for athletes to lose up to 6-10% of their water weight via perspiration. This can lead to altered body temperature control, reduced motivation, increased fatigue and make exercise *feel* much more difficult, both physically and mentally. Believe it or not, muscle is made up of about 80% water! So, if you exercise intensely and tend to sweat, then staying hydrated can help you perform at your absolute best.

Your brain is strongly influenced by hydration status. Hydration exerts a major effect on energy levels and brain function! Dehydration can affect brain structure and function. It's also involved in the production of hormones and neurotransmitters. Prolonged dehydration can lead to difficulty thinking and reasoning.

Even mild dehydration (1-3% of body weight) can impair many aspects of memory and brain function. In a study of young women, fluid loss of 1.36% after exercise impaired both mood and concentration, and increased the frequency of headaches. In a study of young men, fluid loss of just 1.59% was detrimental to working memory and increased feelings of anxiety and fatigue.

So the common measure of how much water you should drink each day depends on your individual needs. The rule is: if you're thirsty, drink some water, but if you're not thirsty, don't drink it just for the sake of it.

Another way of telling if you are drinking enough water is to look at your pee. If it's pale or almost clear, then you're probably drinking enough. If however, its very yellow, that's often a sign that you might be dehydrated. If you pee is very dark, you might need to see a doctor!

The most important thing is to keep hydrated.

### Water delivers oxygen to the body

Blood is more than 90% water, and blood carries oxygen to different parts of the body.

#### Water boosts skin health and beauty

With dehydration, the skin can become more vulnerable to skin disorders and premature wrinkling.

### Water regulates body temperature

Water stored in the middle layers of the skin comes to the surface as sweat when the body heats up. As it evaporates, it cools the body - this is particularly important if you play sport! If there's not enough water in the body, you are less able to tolerate heat strain.

### Water boosts performance during exercise

Dehydration during exercise may hinder performance. It's also possible that dehydration reduces performance in activities lasting longer than 30 minutes.

Water can help with weight loss if it's consumed instead of sweetened juices and sodas. Drinking water before meals can help prevent overeating by creating a sense of fullness and boosting metabolic rate. In two studies, drinking half a litre of water was shown to increase metabolism by 24-30% for up to one and a half hours. Drinking water half an hour before meals is the most effective. In one study, dieters who drank ½ litre of water before meals lost 44% more weight over a period of 12 weeks. It's better to drink water cold, because then the body will use additional energy to heat the water to body temperature, thereby burning more calories.

### Drinking water reduces the chances of getting a hangover

Hangovers are partly caused by dehydration, and drinking water can help reduce some of the main symptoms of hangovers. Alcohol is a diuretic, so it makes you lose more water than you take in. This can lead to dehydration, although dehydration and can cause symptoms like thirst, fatigue, headaches and dry mouth. If you've been drinking alcohol, Try to have have at least one glass of water before going to bed.

### Drinking water may help to prevent and even treat headaches

Drinking water can sometimes help relieve headache symptoms, especially in people who are dehydrated. Dehydration can trigger headaches and migraines in some individuals. Several studies have shown that water can relieve or reduce the intensity and duration of headaches in those who are dehydrated.

### Water is part of saliva and mucus

Saliva helps us digest our food and keeps the mouth, nose, and eyes moist. Drinking water also keeps the mouth clean and can also reduce tooth decay.

### Water lubricates the joints

Cartilage, found in joints and the disks of the spine, are about 80%water. Long-term dehydration can reduce the joints' shock-absorbing ability, which can lead to joint pain.

### Water helps your digestive system and flushes body waste

The bowel needs water to work properly. Water is needed in the removal of urine and faeces. Dehydration can lead to digestive problems such as constipation and an overly acidic stomach. This increases the risk of heartburn and stomach ulcers. Drinking plenty of water can help prevent and relieve constipation, especially in people who generally do not drink enough water. Carbonated water can give promising results for constipation relief, although the reason is not fully understood.

#### Water helps maintain blood pressure

A lack of water can cause blood to become thicker, increasing blood pressure.

### Water helps clear the airways

When dehydrated, airways are restricted by the body in an effort to minimise water loss. This can make asthma and allergies worse.

Water dissolves minerals and nutrients making it possible for them to reach different parts of the body.

### Water prevents kidney damage

The kidneys regulate fluid in the body. Insufficient water can lead to problems such as kidney stones. Increased water intake appears to decrease the risk of kidney stones.

Higher fluid intake increases the volume of urine passing through the kidneys, which dilutes the concentration of minerals, so they are less likely to crystallise and form clumps. Water might also help prevent the initial formation of stones, but more studies are needed to confirm this.

# Confidence trick (2)

### **SEVEN RULES TO A MORE CONFIDENT FUTURE**

In reality, confidence is an abstract construct that people believe they have. Confidence is merely a feeling that might make it easier for a person to complete challenges, but the reality is – it is in no way essential.

The most extreme form of confidence is narcissism. True, narcissists have little regard for the opinions of others and are often happier and less stressed.

Surveys have also shown that narcissistic people are more satisfied with life. This is because they have less social anxiety and think of themselves as the most important person in the room.

It's hardly surprising, given that they are experts in putting themselves first and are blind to criticism. By taking a few leaves out of the narcissists handbook may protect your mental health. But how do you become just enough of a narcissist to boost your mood, without making enemies?

#### **RULE ONE**

Act first, think later, for positive results. Most narcissists don't flinch when they have to speak in public or have a stressful job interview because they rarely think about what they do before they actually do it. As a result, they're more likely to reach the pinnacle of their career than the rest of us.

Most of us too easily catastrophise, thinking 'what if?' So, in nerve-racking situations you should act first and think second.

It seems counter intuitive to everything we're taught as children – but it works!

Before your big event, picture someone you consider to be confident and behave (imitate) exactly as they would in that situation. Completing the task will instil the belief that you *can* do it, which will make you more comfortable about doing it next time.

Positive behaviour means the positive thoughts will follow!

### **RULE TWO**

Take pride in your appearance. Looking good means feeling good and it also means you are treating yourself with value... and those who value themselves feel happier... and those that feel happier also feel more confident.

Studies show that if you roll out of the front door in the morning without so much as brushing your hair, you're more likely to feel miserable. If you know that on certain days this is more likely to happen – Monday mornings, for instance – you should make a plan that makes your morning routine easier.

Get a haircut, pick an outfit you feel great in and perhaps buy a new pair of shoes.

#### **RULE THREE**

A little self love is OK – it's light years away from narcissism and it's not at all selfish to do what's good for *you*.

It's also alright to say to yourself every morning 'I'm alive, and I'm OK!'. Sit on the edge of the bed and say that to yourself six times every morning!

#### **RULE FOUR**

We've all been asked to do things for a friend when we'd really rather not. Most people automatically say yes out of fear, desperate not to seem selfish or unkind, but regret it later.

Again, it's OK to just say no to what doesn't serve you and yes to what does. There's a simple exercise that will help you make decisions that serve you better – just swap an immediate yes with 'I'll need to think about it because I've got a lot on at the moment'.

You can also try a simple breathing exercise before you respond. Look around you and name, in your head, five things you can see and five things you can hear. This will allow time for the decision-making centre in the brain – the pre-frontal cortex – to compute the information before your emotional response kicks in.

You'll be far more likely to be guided by what you want to do, as opposed to what you feel you have to do.

### **RULE FIVE**

Don't downgrade your achievements!

Most of us have a fixed view of ourselves and our abilities. If we pass that exam or get our dream job, it doesn't suddenly make us believe we're a great person.

We don't think too much of ourselves, so we put successes down to being 'lucky'. Narcissists, on the other hand, see their achievements as indicators of the brilliant, successful people they believe they are. And if they don't succeed, it's no slight on them as a person. So while it's important to be realistic about your mistakes, remember it doesn't make you a bad person.

Instead of viewing successes and failures in terms of your personality, try to see each event in isolation.

Rational emotive behaviour therapy (a fancy riff meaning the ability to contextualise the way you feel about stuff) teaches you to see negative things as individual unimportant failings, rather than as a sign you are a failure.

In other words, you shouldn't waste you time thinking about your worth in terms on just what happens at any one time, but what happens over your life. All the good things, all your successes, all your achievements, are more important than one bad thing that's happened.

It's not only normal, but it's ok to succeed in something today but tomorrow. It doesn't matter... you have another success the day after.

You can keep a daily diary of your achievements and failures to help you remember – they are just experiences, that's all. And next time, you'll do better!

#### **RULE SIX**

Set clear goals – and take small steps to get there!

When narcissists set a goal, they'll most likely achieve it. This is because they obsess over a series of specific, clear steps that get them there. Others make vague pledges such as 'doing more exercise' or 'joining a club'.

When we're not clear on exactly what we want and how and when we're going to do it, we set ourselves up for failure.

Draw out or write down a really clear plan of action and a timeline featuring specific, daily mini-steps – and stick to it – to help you reach your goals.

#### **RULE SEVEN**

Face fears head on and you'll get stronger.

One of the most common phobias I see is social anxiety – a fear of big groups of people.

Sufferers are so overcome with worries about what other people think of them, and this can occasionally trigger extreme panic.

In fact, unless you indulge yourself in some kind of unacceptable behaviour like getting drunk and insulting people, no one will think anything bad about you.

Narcissists are immune to this as they are not bothered by what others' opinions or what others might think – and neither should you be!

The way to overcome social anxiety is to face it head-on. By 'not giving a  $f^{**}k'$  – you will strengthen yourself and be able to face any challenge. Remember...no-one is thinking anything about you at all, except how pleasant you are.

So start small... Perhaps invite two or three people round for dinner, or attend a small event with a friend.

The following weekend invite a few more, or tag along to a small party. After a very short time, your brain will learn that the fear is irrational and nothing is quite as scary as you once thought it would be.

Remember: It's alright to put yourself first and remind yourself every morning – 'I'm alive, and I'm OK!'

### How to win friends and influence people

### NINE RULES THAT WILL MAKE PEOPLE LIKE YOU

(Shamelessly stolen from the Neuro Linguistic Poppycock (NLP) Handbook!)

### 1. Ask them to do you a favour

Start with something simple such s asking them 'Could you please hold my bag for a moment?' Their unconscious mind will automatically believe they like you because they're doing you a favour.

### 2. Use a person's name when speaking

Why? Because it makes us feel important and appreciated and people like a good listener.

### 3. Wait before replying to what someone says

This makes them feel you're really thinking about what you're going to say in reply and it makes you seem like a better listener. But only pause for a second or too, otherwise it will make you look creepy.

### 4. Speak with your palms facing outwards

This communicates that you are open, that they can trust you and that you are their friend. But be careful not to do it too obviously as it might also make them think you are a bit odd, which let's face it, most NLP enthusiasts are. Showing an open palm is prehistoric – it shows the other person you are no threat to them or you're not carrying a weapon.

### 5. Nod your head in affirmation

This gives the person you're listening to a feeling of validation because it shows you're really listening to them – even if they are talking rubbish.

### 6. Notice small details or give compliments

It's one of those immutable rules of social interaction that people like people who like *them*. Noticing and commenting on even the smallest of details show you are interested.

#### 7. Mirror their tone of voice and body language

Unconsciously, they will get that you are like them – and they will like you even more in return! But again, try not to make it obvious or they will start to thing you are taking the  $p^{**}s$ .

### 8. Give credit and compliment other people when in a group

Recognising the good in others and complimenting them on something they've done or achieved will get them to like you a lot more – and so will the other people in the group.

### 9. Showing your vulnerable side

Showing your vulnerable side will trigger other people's instinct to protect you.

# Fright Night - Phobias are just the fear of your own imagination

Certain reasonable fears, for example the fear of falling or the fear of sudden loud or unexpected noises are inherited and are part of the human survival strategy. Our ancestors would find any unusual sounds or events significant – they would ignore them at their peril, or get eaten and fail to pass on their genes to the next generation.

Lots of people have animal phobias – rats, mice, flies and maggots are unconsciously associated with rotten food or disease. However, most phobias are *learned behaviours* (for example fear of flying) and can be un-learned with the right kind of therapy.

It's a good thing to have a healthy respect for things that might harm us, like dangerous animals or dangerous situations. No one in their right mind would pick up a snake or go swimming in the sea if they knew there's a great white swimming around looking for an easy dinner! However, if these things stop you from going out of the house, or you're constantly moving furniture away from the wall in case there's a spider lurking behind the cupboard, then that is unreasonable behaviour – and thus a phobia.

Most phobias result from unpleasant experiences – experiences often encountered early in life. These 'peak experiences' change your future behaviour. Understandably, you would be very wary of large dogs if you had been attacked by one and would want to avoid them in the future. One of my clients was mugged and assaulted in Liverpool... as a result he developed a fear of people with Liverpool accents, – and who can blame him?

There are many different ways of dealing with fears and phobias. Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) or 'Mindfulness,' can help clients focus on what is real and what is imaginary... and of course hypnotherapy. There are now fast phobia cures that are very effective. I can cure a phobia in one session and I do a lot of this sort of work.

Rather than confronting the fear itself, it's often better to get the client to understand that a phobia is really a fear of a fear. Someone with a phobia of spiders knows deep down that the spider can't possibly hurt them, but they fear the terrible feelings and emotions - the palpitations, the knot in the stomach - all symptoms of fight or flight - they know they're about to experience if they come across one.

So why do people watch horror films when they're so frightening? The easy answer is that most horror movies are predictable – the bad guy is very bad indeed, is portrayed as a psychopathic killer and usually wears fancy dress – the victims are mainly American females in hot pants who end up (predictably) running through the woods for no particular reason. We understand that the hero (or heroine) will triumph... and the psychopathic killer will survive to make a sequel that will be even more gory and brutal than the original.

The same could be said about rollercoasters and extreme sports – they provide the sense and feeling of risk and excitement with minimum risk. The sense of 'survival' at the end of the ride excites the pleasure centres in the brain and this produces a flood of the feel-good chemical Dopamine. This is why people experience an emotional 'high' at the end of the ride. I once went on *The Big One* in Blackpool... Never again!

In America, teenagers who enjoy watching this sort of film occasionally graduate to shooting other kids at their high school. You can't buy Kinder-eggs at WallMart in America because they are deemed a safety risk – but you can buy an assault rifle. Now that's scary!

# Always look on the bright side of life...

Always look on the bright side of life... da dum... da dum... da dum, da dum...

The colours, vocabulary and music of our culture are the unconscious expressions of the range of our emotions, and this includes the difference between good and evil.

I have always said that music is man's finest achievement – it can thrill the soul and take us on a roller-coaster ride of pure excitement. It can also take you to the very depths of loneliness and despair. But music can also aid relaxation.

You don't have to be a fan of classical or popular music to appreciate which does which, but there's a new spin on this well known and well understood philosophy. Psychology researchers have found that uplifting music can also alter our perception of colour, making them seem brighter, and more vibrant than they actually are.

During tests carried out by Psychology Professor Joydeep Bhattacharya at Goldsmiths, London, volunteers who listened to uplifting music judged a grey square brighter than it really was, while sad, downbeat music made the square appear darker.

This has an obvious relevance for therapy because of the effect colour has on mood. For example, red makes children more competitive, whereas different shades of blue affect concentration levels. Shades of green encourage people to think outside the box.

Music therapy is already used to help depressed people feel brighter but Professor Bhattacharya claims that 'brightness is a metaphor for happiness and we have shown music can have a subtle effect on it, depending on whether it is happy or sad.'

For a series of tests, instrumental samples were composed in order to negate the effect of any word-association such as 'dark' or 'lonely' or 'happy' or 'carefree.'

Over three experiments carried out with six different groups of 20 volunteers, the researchers found that even relatively short pieces of music could be used as effective emotional triggers for influencing how bright we judge something to be. The tests demonstrated the powerful way in which music can affect not only our mood but also our bias. Importantly, this is the same bias that's aligned with the way we use and understand metaphor.

With every group, the results were the same, regardless of whether or not the researchers had previously rated the music as happy or sad for the benefit of the participants. They found that merely listening to happy or sad music will affect subsequent brightness judgement – in other words, it is an automatic effect.

A group of Dutch scientists carried out a similar experiment and they rated Queen's 1978 'Don't Stop Me Now' as the top 'feel-good' song of the last 50 years – it has just the right tempo and lyrics, and is played in the musical key identified as the most likely to produce a happy feeling.

There's a flow of information between the primary visual cortex and the emotional circuitry of the brain. Given what we already know and have been able to observe, this makes

perfect sense. It's also possible that an individual's own personal favourites could enhance the effect.

There's plenty of evidence that proves living a positive and optimistic life can improve both mental and physical health – and also have a big impact on life expectancy. Optimistic people are more resilient, better able to bounce back from stressful events.

In 1975, a team of scientists came up with an ambitious study into ageing by monitoring more than 1,000 people over the age of 50 in a town in Ohio. 40 years after the study, researchers from Yale University tracked the people down and found that those who'd felt the most optimistic about the future had lived, on average, seven-and-a-half years longer than those who were pessimistic. In most cases, mental attitude was more important than almost any other factor.

In a more recent study, published in 2019, researchers from Boston University School of Medicine discovered that optimistic people not only live longer, they are more likely to achieve 'exceptional longevity' – that is, they are more likely to reach the age of 85 or older. They found that the most optimistic people lived, on average, seven to ten years longer than those who were pessimistic. They also discovered optimistic men increased their longevity by around 11% and optimistic women lived around 15% longer than pessimistic women.

This could simply be because being optimistic, they expected to live longer, and therefore had healthier habits, such as staying slim and doing more exercise.

But... the good news is you can learn to become more optimistic! So here are five simple techniques to practice that will to keep you optimistic...

### 1. Visualise your goals

Visualisation is a powerful tool. Remember, the mind doesn't always work logically – but it does respond well to visualisation and imagination. So let's start by visualising a positive future. Take five minutes every week to write down something you would like to achieve in say, five or 10 years' time – maybe in your career, with your family, or another goal. Believe it or not, imagining a positive future really can make a difference.

In 2018, researchers at Northwestern University, US, asked students either to write something about an event in the past or their imagined future success. Then, they were filmed in a mock interview, followed by a difficult academic test. The result was that the students who wrote about a more positive future showed greater motivation, more confident body language, and put more effort into taking the test.

#### 2. Don't catastrophise

If you expect the worst, or think pessimistic thoughts about the future, then stop... and remind yourself of all the times you thought things would go wrong, and they didn't. Once you reduce your fear, you will begin feeling more optimistic.

### 3. Challenge your thoughts

Remember, your thoughts are not real, so they can be challenged, after all, your thoughts are just your imagination. Beliefs are not always factual and reinforcing negativity means

you start to believe it. It's OK to question your beliefs – especially the ones that hold you back. Remember... the hardest Prison the break out of was created in your own mind! So again, every time you think negatively, remind yourself again of all the times you thought things would go wrong, but didn't!

A good way to do this is to make a list of all the things you like about yourself – and then challenge your own negative thoughts and replace them with positive ones. This is one of the things Cognitive Behaviour Therapy recommends, and it seems to work, although it does require a little concentration.

#### 4. Practise Mindfulness.

Mindfulness is a way of focusing your attention on being in the present moment and being aware of your thoughts and anxieties – but not engaging with them.

Focus on your breathing, and your physical body, and allow your mind, your thoughts to wander. It's just like meditation really, so it's easy, because all meditation is simply contemplation, a way of reflecting on things, of mulling over things... and a way of putting things in perspective.

### 5. Train your brain to look for the positive stuff.

Technically, this is known as Cognitive Bias Modification (CBM), but all it means is teaching your brain to seek out and recognise the positive aspects of your life.

An article in The Lancet in June 2020 credited CBM with a modest but consistent effect of reducing stress and anxiety.

We have all had moments when bad things have happened to us – maybe we've lost a job or missed out on a promotion, or maybe a relationship has failed or a holiday has been cancelled... and we've thought that maybe it's happened for the best, that every cloud has a silver lining, or that time will live up to its reputation as a great healer. Then again, we should also be aware of something called 'toxic positivity'

Dr Dean Burnett, author of The Happy Brain, found his father had been hospitalised with Covid 19, his friends tried to reassure him with words along the lines of 'he'll be fine... I'm sure he'll be alright... he'll get through this.' Sadly, they were wrong. Dean's father died in hospital. And not one of them called back to say they were wrong.

'Toxic positivity,' says Dr Burnett, is when positivity ignores reality or when people insist themselves and others stay happy, even when that advice flies in the face of reality.

Dr Burnett obviously doesn't hold with the modern idea that happiness should be our 'default state' and that if we aren't happy then there's something wrong with us. The other bad news is that the brain doesn't work like that.

In the first lockdown, we were encouraged to make the most of the perfect opportunity to write a book, to learn a new skill or a new language. But that message is not only false – it's dangerous. Author David Kessler, a highly respected expert on grief, says the world is going through a collective bereavement. Kessler says 'One unfortunate by-product of the self-help movement is that we try to squash our negative feelings. We tell ourselves we are not allowed to feel sad because other people have it much worse.' The result of this way of

thinking is that we can put ourselves into a state of denial as we suppress out feelings and emotions.

There are too many people telling us the secret to happiness is to think more positively. If only it was so simple! Despite the nonsensical and unscientific nonsense spouted by self-help 'gurus' like Paul McKenna on an [ironically] depressingly regular basis, such rubbish can lead us even further into depression when it doesn't happen.

Research has shown that suppressing our real feelings is not good for our mental or physical wellbeing. Denying our emotions has also been linked to heart disease, intestinal problems, headaches, insomnia and autoimmune disorders. Research shows that when people with low self-esteem repeat positive 'affirmations' they more often than not feel worse and causes more stress and even lower self-esteem.

Research has also shown that bereaved people who try not to feel their grief take longer to recover. Grief is an important part of the recovery process and it's helpful and healthy to put regular time aside to grieve. It's how we remember the ones we've lost.

All emotions have a purpose. Fear, for example, is there to help us avoid danger. A victim of domestic abuse doesn't need to think positively, she needs to get the hell out of the relationship. People who are lonely won't find a true friend in a bottle. Nor will loneliness be numbed by Facebook. Loneliness is the mind's way of telling us to reach out to somebody. In short, positive thinking delays us from taking the action we need to take.

Simply imagining goals will make you feel worse the moment you discover they're unachievable. The trick is to find a balance between toxic positivity and helpful positivity.

It's important to acknowledge our feelings. We experience both positive and negative feelings and emotions physically. Some people feel it in their chest, in the pit of their stomach, as a headache, increased heart rate, or perspiration, or butterflies, or whatever. These are the physical clues that we are anxious or stressed and it's OK to acknowledge those feelings. Only then can we begin to deal with them – and deal with them surprisingly quickly.

If you are the proud owner of the kind of brain that tends to imagine doom and gloom, that's also fine. Sometimes, imagining the worst means you won't be disappointed when it happens. Imagine the very worst case scenario and figure out what you'd do if that happened. Now balance it by imagining what you can do to achieve the best outcome. Once you've figured out what you'd do in a disaster, what is there to worry about?

Better still, try to think of what the *most likely* outcome will be – it's almost certain to be less catastrophic than your worse-case scenario. This might sound crazy, but when things do get tough, just let go of what you can't control and put the energy into moving on. Really, you will find it a lot less stressful!

# Hypnosis can help you to concentrate, focus, and explore issues. Hypnosis is ideal for reducing, or even eliminating stress and anxiety altogether.

Of all the mind therapies and talking therapies, Hypnosis has been shown to be the most powerful and the most effective.

Hypnotherapy is fast and effective. Courses of Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) usually involve weekly one-hour sessions over a period of 10 or 12 weeks. Successful Hypnotherapy will take at most, three or four sessions, but it is possible to tackle and

resolve stress and anxiety issues in one session, although the session is likely to be lengthy.

In any therapy session, it's important to identify and isolate not only a client's limiting beliefs, but also the physical feelings that go with them. That is the first and most important step.

Then, working together with the client, we work to remove those negative feelings and emotions and limiting beliefs and substitute positive feelings, emotions, and beliefs.

This can be a time consuming precess, but believe me, it's worth it!

Hypnotherapy is a powerful resource for a variety of emotional problems, from PTSD to eating disorders, from stress and anxiety, to body dysmorphia, technology addiction, confidence issues, motivation, fears and phobias and letting go of the past.

Always remember... the past is not a life sentence - there's always a way out.